

Better science Better decisions 142

Population genomics of Posidonia sinuosa

Theme: Benthic Habitats and Communities WAMSI Westport Marine Science Program

WAMSI WESTPORT MARINE SCIENCE PROGRAM







ABOUT THE MARINE SCIENCE PROGRAM

The WAMSI Westport Marine Science Program (WWMSP) is a \$13.5 million body of marine research funded by the WA Government. The aims of the WWMSP are to increase knowledge of Cockburn Sound in areas that will inform the environmental impact assessment of the proposed Westport development and help to manage this important and heavily used marine area into the future. Westport is the State Government's program to move container trade from Fremantle to Kwinana, and includes a new container port and associated freight, road and rail, and logistics. The WWMSP comprises more than 30 research projects in the biological, physical and social sciences that are focused on the Cockburn Sound area. They are being delivered by more than 100 scientists from the WAMSI partnership and other organisations.

OWNERSHIP OF INTELLECTURAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

Unless otherwise noted, any intellectual property rights in this publication are owned by the State of Western Australia.

Unless otherwise noted, all material in this publication is provided under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Australia License.

(https:/creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.en)



FUNDING SOURCES

The \$13.5 million WAMSI Westport Marine Science Program was funded by the Western Australian Government, Department of Transport. WAMSI partners provided significant in-kind funding to the program to increase the value to >\$22 million.

DATA

Finalised datasets will be released as open data, and data and/or metadata will be discoverable through Data WA and the Shared Land Information Platform (SLIP).

LEGAL NOTICE

The Western Australian Marine Science Institution advises that the information contained in this publication comprises general statements based on scientific research. The reader is advised and needs to be aware that such information may be incomplete or unable to be used in any specific situation. This information should therefore not solely be relied on when making commercial or other decisions. WAMSI and its partner organisations take no responsibility for the outcome of decisions based on information contained in this, or related, publications.

YEAR OF PUBLICATION

March 2025

This report is part of the project: Pressure-response relationships, building resilience and future proofing seagrass meadows.

CITATION

Whale, J., Webster, C., Said, N., Frouws, A., Field, D., Sinclair, E., McMahon, K. (2024). Population genomics in Posidonia sinuosa. Prepared for the WAMSI Westport Marine Science Program. Western Australian Marine Science Institution, Perth, Western Australia. 54 pp.

FRONT COVER IMAGE

Theme: Benthic habitats and communities Front cover image: Seagrass (Posidonia australis) in Cockburn Sound. Photo courtesy of Rachel Austin (The University of Western Australia).

Contents

1		POPULATION GENOMICS IN POSIDONIA SINUOSA	2
2		EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	3
3		INTRODUCTION	5
4		MATERIALS AND METHODS	7
	4.1	Species, site selection, and sample collection	7
	4.2	DNA EXTRACTIONS, LIBRARY PREPARATION, AND BIOINFORMATICS	C
	4.3	GENOMIC DIVERSITY AND CLONAL RICHNESS WITHIN POPULATIONS	1
	4.4	GENOMIC STRUCTURE AMONG POPULATIONS	1
	4.5	CONTEMPORARY MIGRATION AMONG POPULATIONS	2
	4.6	GENOTYPE BY ENVIRONMENT ASSOCIATION	3
5		RESULTS	1
	5.1	SNP DATASET AND BIOINFORMATICS	4
	5.2	GENOMIC DIVERSITY AND CLONAL RICHNESS WITHIN POPULATIONS	1
	5.3	GENOMIC STRUCTURE AMONG POPULATIONS	5
	5.4	CONTEMPORARY MIGRATION AMONG POPULATIONS	2
	5.5	GENOTYPE BY ENVIRONMENT ASSOCIATION	5
6		DISCUSSION	2
	6.1	Population diversity, connectivity, and structure	2
	6.2	COCKBURN SOUND AREA	3
	6.3	LOCAL ADAPTATION	1
7		CONCLUSIONS/RECOMMENDATIONS	5
8		ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
9		REFERENCES	7
10		APPENDICES	R
-0			-
	TA	BLE S1. G ENETIC AND GEOGRAPHIC DISTANCE	3
	TA	BLE S2. DIRECTIONAL MIGRATION)
	Fig	URE S1. BAYESIAN INFORMATION CRITERION (BIC))
	Fig	URE S2 . MONMONIER'S BARRIER	L

The WAMSI Westport Marine Science Program is a \$13.5 million body of research that is designed to fill knowledge gaps relating to the Cockburn Sound region. It was developed with the objectives of improving the capacity to avoid, mitigate and offset environmental impacts of the proposed Westport container port development and increase the WA Government's ability to manage other pressures acting on Cockburn Sound into the future. Funding for the program has been provided by Westport (through the Department of Transport) and the science projects are being delivered by the Western Australian Marine Science Institution.

1 Population Genomics in *Posidonia sinuosa*

John W. Whale^{1,2}, Chanelle L. Webster¹, Nicole E. Said¹, Anjke Frouws¹, David L. Field^{1,2}, Elizabeth A. Sinclair^{1,3}, Kathryn M. McMahon^{1,4}

¹ Centre for Marine Ecosystems Research, School of Science, Edith Cowan University, Joondalup, WA 6027, Australia

² Applied Biosciences, Macquarie University, Sydney, NSW, 2109, Australia

³ School of Biological Sciences and Oceans Institute, The University of Western Australia, Nedlands, WA 6009, Australia

⁴ Centre for People, Place and Planet, Edith Cowan University, Joondalup, WA 6027, Australia

Project 2.2 Pressure-response relationships, building resilience and future proofing seagrass meadows



Diver collecting shoot samples in a healthy *Posidonia sinuosa* meadow near Garden Island, Cockburn Sound. Photo credit: Nicole Said, Edith Cowan University.

2 Executive Summary

This study focused on understanding genetic diversity and connectivity in the *Posidonia sinuosa* seagrass populations along the west coast of Western Australia, as part of Project 2.2 'Building Resilience and Future Proofing Seagrass Meadows'. Seagrass populations were sampled across the latitudinal gradient from Geraldton (northern range edge) to Geographe Bay (southernmost populations on the west coast) between May and December 2022. Sampling was clustered in three geographic areas (northern, central, southern) and included long term seagrass monitoring sites, with greater intensity of sampling conducted within the Cockburn Sound area at a range of depths (1.2 - 11.8 m). A population genomics approach was undertaken to assess levels of diversity within meadows (including clonal diversity), patterns of genetic structure among meadows (admixture and gene flow), and discovery of putative adaptive variants associated with local environmental conditions (local adaptation). These data will provide important baseline information for understanding patterns of genetic diversity in natural *P. sinuosa* populations along the west coast, as well as enable informed decisions for incorporating resilience into future seagrass restoration activities.

Adult shoot samples were collected from 30 meadows, sequenced and Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs markers) generated. All meadows were growing in oceanic conditions (~36 salinity units) across a range in ocean temperatures at the time of collection (15 - 24 °C). After sequencing and bioinformatics filtering steps, the dataset consisted of 287 multilocus genotypes for 7,777 SNP loci from 28 meadows.

The key outcomes from this research include:

- Extremely high clonal diversity was detected, with almost every shoot sampled having a unique multilocus genotype (R = 283/287 = 0.99). A single multilocus genotype was shared between Burns Rocks and North Beach (~16 km apart). Similar levels of genetic diversity were identified within all sampled meadows (observed heterozygosity = 13.3 % ± 0.019; allelic richness = 1.217 ± 0.02). Levels of inbreeding were high in all meadows ($F_{IS} = 0.336 \pm 0.109$), suggesting pollen dispersal is limited leading to an excess of non-random mating amongst close relatives.
- There was weak, but significant, genetic structure across the sampled latitudinal range (F_{ST} = 0.080). Significant genetic structure occurred at all hierarchical levels and was associated with two mesoscale IMCRA bioregions (Central West Coast, Leeuwin-Naturaliste), geographical sampling clusters (northern, central, southern), and six sampling areas (Geraldton, Jurien Bay Marine Park, Marmion Marine Park, Cockburn Sound, Shoalwater Islands Marine Park, Ngari Capes Marine Park). Most of the variation was attributed to variation among individuals within populations (~40 %) or within individuals (~54 %).
- Genetic structure analyses suggest there were four genetic populations (*K* = 4). However, high levels of admixture were indicative of spatial and temporal gene flow across the species' latitudinal range along the WA coastline.
- There was weak overall genetic structure among 11 meadows within Cockburn Sound (F_{ST} = 0.057), with most populations forming a single genetic cluster. Connectivity was high among populations at the northern end of Cockburn Sound. Population towards the southern end of Cockburn Sound were more genetically discrete and not well-connected, a pattern also identified for *Posidonia australis* meadows.

- Asymmetric, or contemporary directional migration was detected along the WA coastline. A
 predominantly northward flow was consistent with the prevailing sea surface Capes Current
 driven by summer south-westerly winds. The most northerly (Geraldton) and southern (Ngari
 Capes Marine Park) populations were not as well connected. Populations in Perth metropolitan
 waters and Jurien Bay Marine Park were well-connected. Marmion Marine Park were wellconnected with Owen Anchorage, while Becher Point appears to act as a sink for southward
 migration.
- Putatively adaptive loci (up to 4.7 % of SNPs) were strongly associated with sea surface temperature variables. The most common genotype-by-environment associations were with maximum sea surface temperature in summer (SST_{max}) and mean sea surface temperature in the warmest month (SST_{summer}). Significant allelic turnover for temperature related variables occurred between Jurien Bay Marine Park and Geraldton (n = 3), Perth metropolitan waters and Jurien Bay Marine Park (n = 5), and Ngari Capes Marine Park and Perth metropolitan waters (n = 5). These genotypic changes which occurred over less than 1.4 °C change may be indicative of local adaptation to warmer ocean conditions compared to populations further south.
- Genes were identified for 15 putatively adaptive loci, suggesting they may be associated with temperature adaptation.
- Our results highlight the importance of using genomic tools in determining genetic diversity, connectivity, and assessment of putative adaptation in seagrass meadows. Results support the potential for implementing resilience building options in Cockburn Sound to future-proof meadows to warming oceans and extreme heatwave events. Empirical studies, through the use of common garden experiments, will be needed to determine whether assisted gene migration might be a viable option for evolutionary change to escape extinction. A risk assessment and appropriate approvals would be needed before this could be actioned.
- Conservation of the fragmented northern warmer-adapted meadows is critical for long term persistence of *P. sinuosa* along the west coast of Australia. Plant material (transplants or seeds) could be sourced from more northerly, naturally warmer water adapted meadows to increase resilience in southern populations.

3 Introduction

Climate change and anthropogenic stressors present challenges to global biodiversity with loss of species, declines in populations and many plant species exhibiting signs of stress (Jordà et al., 2012; Christmas et al., 2015; Anderegg et al., 2019; Gibson and Newman, 2019). These impacts continue to manifest with rapid climate change, including increases in the frequency, intensity, and duration of environmental extremes such as heatwaves (Allen et al., 2010; IPCC, 2018). Such species and population declines can also lead to reductions in genomic diversity that could influence the resilience of species including their ability to adapt to change. Understanding the genomic diversity of plant species over their range can help inform local conservation actions to address these global pressures.

The genomic diversity of a species is a result of its evolutionary past, demographic history and natural selection (Savolainen and Pyhäjärvi, 2007; Daniell et al., 2016; Dai et al., 2019). Understanding the distribution of genomic diversity within a species and the presence of adaptive variants can provide useful insights into the past and how a species might adapt to future environmental conditions (Frankham, 2010). Adaptive variants are maintained in populations via a balance between selection, drift and gene flow and variation within populations can also arise through new mutations or from standing genomic variation. Detection of adaptive loci is often possible across geographic and environmental gradients and may allow for the prediction of populations vulnerable or resilient to future conditions (Bay et al., 2018; Hoffmann et al., 2021; Rellstab et al., 2021). Many adaptive genomic studies, to date, have focussed on terrestrial species (Fahrenkrog et al., 2017; Jordan et al., 2017; Gugger et al., 2021; Hopley and Byrne, 2022; Whale et al., 2024a), though the number of studies for aquatic and marine environments is increasing (Barceló et al., 2022; Marshall et al., 2022). Genotype-environment association (GEA) analyses can provide estimates of vulnerability to current environmental conditions and in association with projected environmental conditions provide managers with real-world applications to enhance conservation and restoration outcomes (Hoffmann et al., 2015).

Marine ecosystems along the West Australian coastline were significantly impacted by the 2010/2011 marine heat wave (e.g. Wernberg et al., 2013, Strydom et al., 2020). Future projections indicate continuing ocean warming leading to tropicalisation of some temperate ecosystems. The habitat-forming temperate seagrass meadows dominated by *Amphibolis* and *Posidonia* spp., are projected to experience range contractions of approximately 200 – 400 km southwards by 2100 (Hyndes et al., 2016). This could mean that *P. sinousa* meadows within the Perth metropolitan waters may be close to a new northern range limit, highlighting the conservation value of these meadows. These projections do not, however, take local adaptive variation into account. Species resilience can be enhanced to counteract the effects of rapid climate change through management strategies such as assisted (gene) migration (Aitken and Whitlock, 2013) or climate-adjusted provenancing (Prober et al., 2015). Climate-adjusted provenancing is the selection of genotypes from a donor population that will likely increase fitness of the recipient under a future climate scenario. The introduction of plants already adapted to future conditions, e.g. a particular temperature range, may enhance both genomic and phenotypic diversity in potentially vulnerable populations. An understanding of genomic and adaptive diversity in natural populations is necessary for either of these strategies to be implemented.

Seagrasses are flowering plants commonly found in shallow, protected coastal waters. They are sensitive to anthropogenic pressures (Cambridge and McComb, 1984; Cambridge et al., 1986; Coles et al., 2007; Gaylard, 2014) and climate change including heatwaves (Strydom et al., 2020). Many seagrass species have wide distributions over latitudinal gradients, so populations grow under different sets of environmental conditions. Latitudinal variation gives rise to differences in the temperature range, but environmental conditions can also vary due to depth gradients or the level of coastal development and associated eutrophication. These environmental differences have the

potential to give rise to local adaptation that, like in other plant species, could leave some populations vulnerable and some more resilient to rapid environmental change (Cao et al., 2020; Sang et al., 2022), although few studies have assessed this in seagrasses to date (e.g. Procaccini et al., 2017; Phair et al., 2019). Seagrasses can reproduce both clonally and sexually (Paulo et al., 2019), and through sexual reproduction, recombination can lead to new, potentially adaptive variants that may increase genetic diversity and enhance fitness. Clonal diversity is highly variable in seagrasses, with most meadows having low to moderate levels of clonality (e.g. McMahon et al., 2018; Hernawan et al., 2023; Sinclair et al., 2023), although there are some exceptions where a single clone dominates an entire meadow (e.g. Evans et al., 2014; Bricker et al., 2018; Edgeloe et al., 2022). Dispersal of seagrass propagules (fruit, seeds, seedlings) can occur from distances of 10's to 100's of km (reviewed in Kendrick et al., 2012), with buoyant Posidonia australis fruits dispersing 100 - 150 km (Ruiz-Montoya et al., 2015). The scale of dispersal among populations determines their connectivity and how potentially adaptive variants may be shared and maintained. Understanding this connectivity, in conjunction with environmental pressures, allow for the determination of how populations (at the fine-scale) and species (broad-scale) may respond to future climate change (Gaines et al., 2007). Consequently, it is important to understand the existing genomic diversity, the presence and spatial patterns of adaptive genomic diversity and the connectivity between populations to inform the effective conservation and management (including restoration) strategies.

In this study, we focused on *Posidonia sinuosa*, a widely distributed keystone species in temperate Western Australian waters with significant environmental and economic value to the wider ecological community. We conducted a population genetic study along a latitudinal gradient (560 km) to (1) Estimate genetic diversity, structure and connectivity for 28 populations and (2) search for local adaptation along this latitudinal gradient and if this putatively adaptive genomic variation is associated with environmental traits through genotype-environment outlier tests. We hypothesise that *P. sinuosa* will exhibit signatures of local adaptation to temperature, depth, and light. The outcomes from this study can be used to enhance *P. sinuosa* meadow resilience and inform management and conservation actions such as through assisted gene migration.

4 Materials and Methods

4.1 Species, site selection, and sample collection

Posidonia sinuosa Cambridge & Kuo 1979 is a perennial, temperate seagrass endemic to western and southern coastlines of Australia, ranging from the Abrolhos Islands in central Western Australia (WA) to Kingston, South Australia (Cambridge and Kuo, 1979, 1982). Ocean temperatures typically range from winter lows of 17 °C to summer maximum of 23 °C (NOAA Coral Reef Watch, 2022). The species is typified by non-fibrous leaf sheaths and narrow leaves that distinguish it from other Australian Posidonia species. P. sinuosa flowers towards the end of winter and produces fruit in late spring. Mature fruit, each containing a single seed, are released and rapidly float to the water surface (i.e. are positively buoyant), where they are dispersed by surface currents. Little information is available on sexual reproduction in P. sinuosa, although Smith and Walker (2002) found meadows in Warnbro Sound had fewer flowers on shorter stems (within the leaf canopy) than its sister species, *P. australis*. Posidonia sinuosa has a naturally disjunct distribution, preferring sheltered coastal embayments where it forms large, dense meadows to a depth of ~20 metres. P. sinuosa is listed as vulnerable on the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species (IUCN, 2010) with population declines, particularly in Cockburn Sound, linked to human activity (Short et al., 2011). The majority of seagrass loss in Cockburn Sound occurred between 1960 and 1970 (Cambridge and McComb, 1984; Cambridge et al., 1986). There has been limited natural recovery in following decades, despite improvement in water quality (Kendrick et al., 2002).

Posidonia sinuosa was sampled throughout its latitudinal range along the west coast from Geraldton, at the most northern species range edge to Ngari Capes Marine Park in Geographe Bay (Figure 1, Table 1). This range extends across two IMCRA mesoscale bioregions (Central West Coast, Leeuwin-Naturaliste), as defined under Integrated Marine and Coastal Regionalisation of Australia (IMCRA v4.0; Commonwealth of Australia, 2006; Last et al., 2010). This inshore bioregionalisation was derived from biological (distribution of demersal fishes, marine plants and invertebrates) and physical data (sea floor geomorphology and sediments, and oceanographic). Our sampling resulted in three broad geographic clusters (northern, central, southern), and six sampling areas (GERO = Geraldton; JBMP = Jurien Bay Marine Park; MMP = Marmion Marine Park; CS = Cockburn Sound; SIMP = Shoalwater Islands Marine Park; NCMP = Ngari Capes Marine Park), reflecting the naturally disjunct distribution of meadows. The marine environment along the west coast is influenced by a dominant warm, offshore southward flowing Leeuwin Current (Godfrey and Ridgeway, 1985; James and Bone, 2011), with a cooler, seasonal wind-driven northwards counter-current that flows along the inner shelf (Pearce and Pattiaratchi, 1999) facilitating sea surface dispersal. Sample sites were selected in areas where dense meadows form and to align with historical monitoring sites (see Webster et al., 2024). A Moran's I test in R (R Core Team, 2019) was used to assist with site selection to capture the range of temperatures experienced by P. sinuosa meadows. Environmental variables derived from NOAA (2022) including mean annual sea surface temperature (SST), mean maximum SST and SST annual range were used in the analysis. This method determines the spatial autocorrelation of the environmental gradients between sites using the 'Moran.I' function in the APE package (Paradis and Schliep, 2019). Sites were selected, where possible, to cover the depth range of the species in each location (1.2 - 18.0 m; Australian Height Datum AHD). A greater number of sites were selected within Perth metropolitan waters, including Cockburn Sound, as this is an area with a large investment in seagrass restoration and a strategic initiative to explore and implement resilience building opportunities.

Cockburn Sound is an industrialised coastal embayment approximately 16 km long and ~7 km wide where significant declines in seagrasses. Several *Posidonia* species have been impacted (Cambridge and McComb, 1984; Cambridge et al., 1986; Kendrick et al., 2002), and further industrial development

is anticipated. The embayment provides a sheltered environment for ten seagrass species (Cambridge and McComb, 1984) and is an important spawning ground for fish (Breheny et al., 2012). Jurien Bay Marine Park (JBMP) is an area approximately 200 km north of Perth, ~90 km long running from Green Head in the north to Wedge Island in the south, encompassing 824 km² (Edgar et al., 2007; Fairclough et al., 2011). Coastlines within JBMP are protected from prevailing swells by a series of islands, structured reefs, and limestone pavements (Edgar et al., 2007) that provide suitable habitat for nine seagrass and three wrasse species (Fairclough et al., 2011), and breeding grounds for sea lions (Gales et al., 1992). Ngari Capes Marine Park (NCMP) is located in southwestern WA and wraps around Cape Naturaliste and includes Geographe Bay in the north and Flinders Bay in the south, the marine park extends 1200 km² (Hastings and Ryan, 2017). NCMP supports abundant fish biodiversity (e.g. Scanlon et al., 2024), migrating marine mammals (e.g. Double et al., 2014), and large continuous seagrass meadows (McMahon et al., 2007).

A total of 588 mature shoots were collected from 30 independent meadows via SCUBA. Sampling within each meadow occurred from a central point and individuals collected at 5 m intervals along radiating angles at the 0°, 90°, 180°, and 270°. A 5 m interval was selected to reduce the chance of resampling shoots from the same clone. All collected shoots were kept cold (~4 °C) for a maximum of 24-hours before processing. Non-photosynthetic shoot meristem tissue was removed from each individual and placed into a 2 mL microcentrifuge tube and frozen at -80 °C prior to DNA extraction. Samples were collected between May and December 2022. All samples were checked by Dr Marion Cambridge before processing, as there can be challenges with species identification, especially between *P. sinuosa* and *P. angustifolia* (Cambridge and Kuo, 1979). This resulted in some collected samples being removed and resampling from some meadows to increase the sample number.



Figure 1: Location of sampled *P. sinuosa* populations along the west coast of Western Australia. Grey shaded area represents the approximate *P. sinuosa* distribution along the west coast (Atlas of Living Australia, 2022). Black circles represent individual meadows sampled across three geographic clusters: A. northern (Geraldton and Jurien Bay Marine Park); B. central (Marmion Marine Park, Cockburn Sound, and Shoalwater Islands Marine Park); and C. southern (Ngari Capes Marine Park). Site numbers match code in Table 1.

Table 1. Sampling locations of *P. sinuosa* in Western Australia. IMCRA mesoscale bioregions: CWC = Central West Coast; LNE = Leeuwin-Naturaliste; Geographic sampling clusters (northern, central, southern); Sampling areas: GERO = Geraldton; JBMP = Jurien Bay Marine Park; MMP = Marmion Marine Park; CS = Cockburn Sound; SIMP = Shoalwater Islands Marine Park; NCMP = Ngari Capes Marine Park. *, denotes long-term seagrass monitoring site; D seagrass meadow is adjacent to a restoration site.

No.	Sample location	Abbr.	IMCRA bioregions (n = 2)	Geographic clusters (n = 3)	Sampling areas (n = 6)	Latitude (S)	Longitude (E)	Depth (m)
1	Beresford, Geraldton	BSFD	CWC	northern	GERO	-28.74845	114.6103	8.8
2	Point Moore, Geraldton	POMO	CWC	northern	GERO	-28.75465	114.6076	10.8
3	*Fishermans Island	FISH	CWC	northern	JBMP	-30.12717	114.9959	4.7
4	*Boulanger Island	BOUL	CWC	northern	JBMP	-30.31245	115.0021	3.6
5	*Jurien Bay	JUIS	CWC	northern	JBMP	-30.33013	115.0314	3.9
6	*Kangaroo Point	KAPO	CWC	northern	JBMP	-30.58201	115.0856	4
7	Burns Rock	BURO	CWC	central	MMP	-31.7274	115.7057	10.7
8	Mullaloo	MULL	CWC	central	MMP	-31.78143	115.7253	10.3
9	North Beach	NOBE	CWC	central	MMP	-31.84165	115.7354	8.9
10	^Owen Anchorage	S4S2	LNE	central	CS	-32.09812	115.7372	5.8
11	Carnac Island	CAIS	LNE	central	CS	-32.12077	115.6775	4
12	*Woodman Point	WOOD	LNE	central	CS	-32.12859	115.73774	3.8
13	*Garden Island Deep	GNDP	LNE	central	CS	-32.15896	115.68086	10.8
14	*Garden Island Shallow	GRDN	LNE	central	CS	-32.16023	115.6721	3.1
15	*Jervoise Bay	JERV	LNE	central	CS	-32.1723	115.77004	4.5
16	*Kwinana	KWIN	LNE	central	CS	-32.19153	115.74389	5.2
17	*Garden Island Settlement	GDNS	LNE	central	CS	-32.21371	115.68872	1.2
18	*Southern Flats	SOFL	LNE	central	CS	-32.24155	115.70708	2.1
19	*Causeway	CSWY	LNE	central	CS	-32.26048	115.70012	5.1
20	*Mangles Bay	MANG	LNE	central	CS	-32.27244	115.71357	3.4
21	Point Peron	POPE	LNE	central	SIMP	-32.27235	115.6905	3
22	*Warnbro Sound	WNBR	LNE	central	SIMP	-32.3162	115.71393	6
23	*Warnbro Sound Deep	WBDP	LNE	central	SIMP	-32.34505	115.74273	11.8
24	*Becher Point	BEPO	LNE	central	SIMP	-32.37232	115.70608	3.4
25	*Outer Shelf near Forrest Beach, Geographe Bay	OFOB	LNE	southern	NCMP	-33.54437	115.36998	16.1
26	*Outer Shelf near Dunsborough, Geographe Bay	ODUN	LNE	southern	NCMP	-33.59011	115.15085	18
27	*Vasse-Wonnerup, Geographe Bay	VAWO	LNE	southern	NCMP	-33.60188	115.42545	4.9
28	*Dunsborough, Geographe Bay	DUBO	LNE	southern	NCMP	-33.61654	115.12865	3.6
29	*Mid-Shelf near Marybrook, Geographe Bay	MMRY	LNE	southern	NCMP	-33.62426	115.20375	8.3
30	*Mid-Shelf near Broadwater, Geographe Bay	MBRD	LNE	southern	NCMP	-33.62757	115.29517	9.7

4.2 DNA extractions, library preparation, and bioinformatics

Genomic DNA was extracted from frozen shoot meristems using a Qiagen DNeasy Plant Pro Kit (Qiagen, Germany) following the extraction method outlined by Edgeloe et al. (2022) using a Qiagen Tissuelyser II instead of a pestle and mortar, for 478 of the samples across the 30 populations (13-20 individuals per population, not all samples were extracted in case extracts did not meet quality control but were retained). Genomic DNA samples were stored at -80 °C. Genomic DNA quantity was measured using a Qubit 3.0 Fluorometer (Invitrogen, Australia) and fragment size quantified using an Agilent 4150 Tapestation (Integrated Sciences, Chatswood, NSW, Australia).

All genomic DNA extracts were submitted to the Australian Genome Research Facility (AGRF, Melbourne, Australia) for double digest restriction-site associated sequencing (ddRAD-seq, Peterson et al., 2012). Samples were digested using a Pst//Mse/ restriction enzyme combination with DNA fragments cleaved by both enzymes, and ligated with sequencing adapters. Sequencing was performed on a NovaSeq 6000 sequencing machine. Sequences of 150 base pairs were filtered with a minimum quality threshold phred score of greater than 35, read depth across all sequences were an average of 19X, and sequencing data were run through the AGRF Ipyrad and NSGEP pipelines using default parameters. Quality of the sequencing data was assessed based on the sequencing of duplicate samples. Locus filtering was conducted in R using the DARTR package (Gruber et al., 2018). Loci were removed if they were not bi-allelic, had more than 35 % per locus of missing data and where loci were under high linkage disequilibrium greater than 0.5 The minor allele frequency (MAF) was set to 0.02, one random locus per sequence read was retained. Individuals with greater than 30 % missing data were also removed.

4.3 Genomic diversity and clonal richness within populations

Estimates of clonality of multi-locus genotypes (MLGs) within populations were conducted in Genodive v3.06 (Meirmans and Van Tienderen, 2004) using the 'assign clones' function. We generated a distance matrix using the infinite alleles model with a genetic distance threshold of 314, then estimated the observed clonal diversity based on Nei's corrected diversity index (Nei, 1987) which incorporated the 'randomise alleles over individuals within populations' method. Final clonality estimates from Genodive were calculated with 999 bootstrap permutations. Estimates of clonality were independently verified in POPPR (Kamvar et al., 2014; Kamvar et al., 2015) in R. A distance matrix was generated and a bitwise distance threshold of 0.054 was used to detect clones as this method is suitable for a SNP dataset with missing data (Kamvar et al., 2014). Clonal richness (*R*) was estimated from the number of unique genotypes (MLG) relative to the number of sampled individuals per population (N); (MLG-1)/(N-1) (Dorken and Eckert, 2001). Shannon-Weiner Diversity Index (H) using the '*locus_table*' function and Simpsons Diversity Index (D) were both estimated in POPPR, recommended as standardised measures of heterogeneity to capture clonal diversity and evenness (Arnaud-Haond et al., 2007).

Standard population genetic statistics were estimated for each population based on unique multilocus genotypes (that is, clonal replicates were removed from the data set) including Shannon-Weiner index (H) as a measure of evenness and Simpson's diversity index (lambda) which provided a measure of clonal heterogeneity were estimated using POPPR. Observed (H_0) and expected heterozygosity (H_e) were estimated using the 'gl.report.heterozygosity' function in DARTR, and a standardised allelic richness (AR) using the 'allelic.richness' function calculated in the HIERFSTAT package (de Meeûs and Goudet, 2007; Goudet, 2005). Loci for all samples were tested to determine whether they conformed to Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) based on classical X^2 using the 'hw.test' function in the PEGAS package (Paradis, 2010). An inbreeding coefficient (F_{1S}) was also estimated using the Weir and Cockerham method (Weir and Cockerham, 1984) in HIERFSTAT.

4.4 Genomic structure among populations

Population structure among meadows was investigated using multiple approaches. Firstly, a discriminate analysis of principal components (DAPC) analysis (Jombart et al., 2010) was used to visualise the spatial relationship among meadows and individual samples. The 'find.clusters' function was used to estimate the number of clusters within the dataset using the ADEGENET package (Jombart, 2008; Jombart and Ahmed, 2011). Sub-populations were estimated using the lowest Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) score. The 'dapc' function was used to visualise population

structure without *a priori* knowledge of the number of clusters by transforming the data through Principal Component Analysis (PCA) followed by determination of clusters using discriminant analysis. Here we retained 120 principal components representing 69.8 % of the variation, with two discriminant functions retained. The DAPC was visualised as a 2D scatterplot. Separate analyses were performed for the complete set of sampled meadows, as well as a reduced data set focussing on the Cockburn Sound area where the majority of sampling sites were located. Population structure was tested using the sparse non-negative matrix factorisation (SNMF) method in the LEA package (Frichot and François, 2015). The analysis was run for each *K*-value between 1 and 28 populations. Each *K* value was run ten times, with ten iterations, and combined. Cross-entropy scores for each run were compared to determine the optimal *K*-value. The best *K*-value according to the cross-entropy criterion was selected when the cross-entropy value did not decrease for a greater *K*. A consensus plot for each *K-value* was generated in CLUMPP (Jakobsson and Rosenberg, 2007) with graphical visualisation in DISTRUCT (Rosenberg, 2004).

Overall and pairwise population differentiation was estimated using the Weir and Cockerham method (F_{ST} , Weir and Cockerham, 1984) in HIERFSTAT. Finally, a Hierarchical Analysis of Molecular Variance (AMOVA; Excoffier et al., 1992) was used to test genetic partitioning among individuals using the *poppr.amova* function in POPPR. The data set was partitioned based on different geographical hypotheses: 1. IMCRA mesoscale bioregions (Central West Coast (CWC) versus Leeuwin-Naturaliste (LNE), 2. Geographic sampling clusters (northern, central, and southern) and 3. K = 4 - 6 populations as identified through PCA clustering (DAPC) and structure (SNMF) analyses. Significance was based on 999 permutations.

4.5 Contemporary migration among populations

Estimates of directional relative migration among populations was calculated using divMigrate through the *R* package *diveRsity* using the G_{ST} genetic distance measure which is analogous to F_{ST} (Sundqvist et al., 2016). Each estimate was conducted at a significance threshold of a = 0.05, with 1000 bootstraps and gene flow patterns were visualized using the *qgraph* package (Epskamp et al., 2012). Relative migration values range from zero (equal migration between populations) to one (representing increasing directional migration). Boundary detection of isolated populations was estimated using Monmonier's maximum difference algorithm (Monmonier, 1973) using the 'monmonier' function in ADEGENET. This method identifies a barrier where genetic differences between pairs of populations are highest.

Isolation by distance (IBD) was estimated to determine the relationship between genetic similarity among populations over geographic distance (km). Genetic similarity was assessed through pairwise F_{ST} , calculated following Weir and Cockerham (1984), in *HIERFSTAT* at a significance threshold of a = 0.05, with 1000 bootstraps. Geographic distance among populations was calculated through the *Marmap* package (Pante and Simon-Bouhet, 2013) as the shortest overwater distance among populations through >1 m water depth. Due to the map resolution, coordinates for some populations were adjusted (maximum 1 km from original coordinates) to ensure they registered as being located in water >1 m in depth. It is often assumed that the greater the geographic distance between two populations, the greater the genetic difference, however, this assumption does not always hold true in complex marine coastal environments where local conditions influence (pollen and seed) dispersal patterns. Correlation between the genetic and geographic distance matrices was estimated using a Mantel test with Spearman rank correlation through the *mantel* function with 1000 permutations in the *vegan* package (Oksanen et al., 2020).

4.6 Genotype by Environment association

We determined the spatial dependence among variables across the sampled spatial distribution before testing for associations between environmental variables and genomic loci. A Pearson's correlation coefficient (r) was calculated for ten environmental variables: mean annual sea surface temperature (SST_{MA}), mean sea surface temperature of the warmest month (SST_{max}), mean summer sea surface temperature (SST_{summer}), mean sea surface temperature of the warmest quarter (SST_{WARMQ}), mean sea surface temperature of the coldest month (SST_{min}), mean winter sea surface temperature (SST_{winter}), mean sea surface temperature of the coldest quarter (SST_{COLDQ}), mean annual range of sea surface temperature (TAR), diffuse attenuation coefficient at 490 nm (turbidity of the water column, kd490), and depth. Temperature data were downloaded from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA; https://coastwatch.pfeg.noaa.gov/erddap/griddap/NOAA_DHW_monthly.html) at 5 km pixel resolution (NOAA Coral Reef Watch, 2022; Skirving et al., 2020). All temperature variables were the NOAA baseline data (January 1, 1985 to December 31, 1990, and 1993). SST_{max} are temperature values recorded in February, while SST_{min} are data from July. SST_{summer} was classified as the mean sea surface temperature of the traditional Austral summer months (December, January, and February), while SST_{WARMQ} are the three warmest months of the year (January, February, and March). Similarly, SST_{winter} and SST_{COLDQ} are data recorded from the traditional Austral winter months (June, July, and August) and the three coolest months of the year (July, August, and September). Water turbidity (kd490) was also downloaded from NOAA 4 resolution at km pixel (https://coastwatch.noaa.gov/erddap/griddap/noaacwNPPVIIRSSQkd490Monthly.html) and data were averaged for the total data period of December 1, 2012 to December 1, 2023. Depth data for each site was extracted from the Two Rocks to Cape Naturaliste Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR) as reported in Webster et al. (2024). Bathymetry data was collected from airborne laser bathymetry, a technique used to map seabed topography (Doneus et al., 2013), adjusted to the mean sea surface, and reduced to the Australian Height Datum (AHD), the national vertical datum for mainland Australia. Geo-referenced surface image of bathymetry at a 10 m resolution were read into ArcGIS v10.7 and estimates of depth were quantified for each population (Webster et al., 2024).

We employed LFMM2 (Latent Factor Mixed Model 2; Caye et al., 2019), a univariate GEA method, to detect associations to environment among all retained populations of *P. sinuosa*. LFMM2 requires a full dataset with no missing data, therefore all missing data among individual genotypes were imputed using the *impute* function using the median method to complete the genotype matrix. Population structure was accounted for by using latent factors to estimate the discrete number of ancestral clusters (*K*) which contribute to genetic variation with a PCA. This *K* estimate was used within the *'lfmm_ridge'* function within the LFMM2 v1.0 package to fit the LFMM2 regression model to the number of *K* factors. Individual associations to each environmental variable were estimated using the *'lfmm_test'* function was applied to the calibrated *p*-values at a significance threshold of *a* = 0.001 to limit the false discovery rate since higher thresholds have been found to generate more variable data and increase the number of false positives (Ahrens et al., 2021). These thresholds were applied to each environmental variable.

A multi-variate method was also conducted to detect relationships between SNP loci and environmental variables. The complete imputed data set (see above) was used as redundancy analysis requires no missing data (RDA; Forester et al., 2018). The *rda* function was used to perform the RDA in the VEGAN v2.6-4 package (Oksanen et al., 2020). The *anova.cc* function was used to estimate the overall significance of the analysis. If the overall model was significant, the significance of each environmental variable was then tested using 999 permutations also using the *anova.cc* function. All loci significantly associated with an environmental variable were then plotted in two-dimensional form in R.

We performed a generalised dissimilarity model (GDM), an approach used to determine the significance of the environmental variable on the genomic loci, providing a visualisation of the spatial interactions across the landscape (Ferrier et al., 2007). The GDM was used to identify the allelic turnover of putatively adaptive loci (change in allele frequency across environmental space) from the GEA analyses. A pairwise genetic matrix of associated loci per environmental variable was generated using the *genet.dist* function in HIERFSTAT. These matrices were used within the GDM model using the GDM package (Fitzpatrick et al., 2020) using the *gdm* function to estimate the deviance among climate space and environmental associations (change in allele frequency turnover across environmental space). DNA sequences for loci showing the greatest deviance across environmental space (TAIR, <u>https://www.arabidopsis.org/index.jsp</u>; Berardini et al., 2015) using the BLAST and Mapviewer tools to determine whether the loci may be in genic space. Ideally a *Posidonia* genome would be used for the alignment but although there are some genomes sequenced they are not annotated to the level required for these assessments (Bayer et al., 2022 preprint).

5 Results

5.1 SNP dataset and bioinformatics

Genotype-by-Sequencing of *P. sinuosa* samples returned 55,478 loci throughout the genome and resulted in 7,777 polymorphic SNP loci for 287 individuals after bioinformatic filtering. The number of individuals sequenced was reduced from 478 to 287 for a total of 28 sampled meadows. DNA and/or sequencing quality was poor, particularly for almost all samples collected within two Geographe Bay sites (MMRY and OFOB), that resulted in their exclusion from all analyses.

5.2 Genomic diversity and clonal richness within populations

All shoot samples genotyped had unique multilocus SNP profiles, except for three shoots (Table 2; Clonal diversity, R = 0.99). Estimates of clonality from both Genodive and POPPR resulted in the detection of multiple copies of MLGs in Burns Rocks (BURO; 2 samples) and Vasse Wonnerup (VAWO; 2 samples), and a single MLG shared between Burns Rocks and North Beach (~16 km apart). Population genetic diversity parameters were remarkably similar across all sampled meadows (Table 2), with low overall observed heterozygosity ($H_0 = 13.3$ %). Observed heterozygosity was significantly lower than expected in all populations, leading to a highly positive ($F_{IS} = 0.336$). Significant deviations from HWE were present in 5103/7777 loci (65.6 %) at $\alpha = 0.01$ threshold.

Table 2. Genomic diversity parameters within sampled <i>P. sinuosa</i> populations and overall means. N = number of individuals sequenced per population; G =
number of unique multilocus genotypes (MLGs); R = clonal richness; H = Shannon-Weiner Index; lambda = Simpsons Diversity Index; E.5 = Evenness; AR =
allelic richness; H_0 = observed heterozygosity; H_e = expected heterozygosity; F_{IS} = inbreeding coefficient.

No.	Population	Ν	G	R	Н	lambda	evenness	AR	Но	He	Fis
1	BSFD	5	5	1.00	1.61	0.80	1.00	1.20	0.126	0.160	0.304
2	POMO	6	6	1.00	1.79	0.83	1.00	1.21	0.138	0.180	0.289
3	FISH	9	9	1.00	2.20	0.89	1.00	1.22	0.138	0.193	0.307
4	BOUL	14	14	1.00	2.64	0.93	1.00	1.22	0.114	0.198	0.412
5	JUIS	15	15	1.00	2.71	0.93	1.00	1.23	0.125	0.212	0.404
6	KAPO	10	10	1.00	2.30	0.90	1.00	1.21	0.124	0.189	0.358
7	BURO	15	13	0.93	2.62	0.92	0.97	1.21	0.105	0.188	0.427
8	MULL	13	13	1.00	2.56	0.92	1.00	1.24	0.135	0.219	0.384
9	NOBE	11	11	1.00	2.40	0.91	1.00	1.24	0.161	0.220	0.286
10	S4S2W	12	12	1.00	2.48	0.92	1.00	1.24	0.143	0.220	0.353
11	CAIS	15	15	1.00	2.71	0.93	1.00	1.22	0.128	0.203	0.357
12	WOOD	9	9	1.00	2.20	0.89	1.00	1.21	0.112	0.185	0.401
13	GNDP	7	7	1.00	1.95	0.86	1.00	1.22	0.136	0.190	0.318
14	GRDN	12	12	1.00	2.48	0.92	1.00	1.23	0.131	0.210	0.367
15	JERV	14	14	1.00	2.64	0.93	1.00	1.21	0.118	0.199	0.398
16	KWIN	8	8	1.00	2.08	0.88	1.00	1.22	0.132	0.197	0.347
17	GDNS	8	8	1.00	2.08	0.88	1.00	1.21	0.149	0.183	0.236
18	SOFL	5	5	1.00	1.61	0.80	1.00	1.20	0.130	0.168	0.299
19	CSWY	13	13	1.00	2.56	0.92	1.00	1.22	0.127	0.202	0.362
20	MANG	6	6	1.00	1.79	0.83	1.00	1.20	0.126	0.171	0.325
21	POPE	15	15	1.00	2.71	0.93	1.00	1.20	0.156	0.189	0.227
22	WNBR	13	13	1.00	2.56	0.92	1.00	1.22	0.132	0.206	0.350
23	WBDP	13	13	1.00	2.56	0.92	1.00	1.22	0.125	0.197	0.366
24	BEPO	11	11	1.00	2.40	0.91	1.00	1.24	0.162	0.218	0.275
25	ODUN	9	9	1.00	2.20	0.89	1.00	1.23	0.122	0.211	0.414
26	VAWO	7	5	0.83	1.75	0.82	0.94	1.20	0.128	0.175	0.317
27	DUBO	6	6	1.00	1.79	0.83	1.00	1.22	0.141	0.185	0.302
28	MBRD	6	6	1.00	1.79	0.83	1.00	1.23	0.164	0.194	0.230
Overall		287	283	0.99	5.64	1.00	0.99	1.22	0.133	0.195	0.336

5.3 Genomic structure among populations

The DAPC analysis for the entire data set with 145 PCA eigenvalues retained accounted for 68.1 % of the variation (Figure 2A). Individuals clustered by sampling location, indicating a closer relationship among samples within a site, although there were large areas of overlap, particularly among populations within the Jurien Bay Marine Park and the central geographic cluster (Marmion Marine Park, Cockburn Sound, Shoalwater Islands Marine Park). Interestingly, the two Geraldton populations (BSFD and POMO) clustered discretely more closely with southern populations (Ngari Capes Marine Park) than the Jurien Bay Marine Park, despite considerable geographic distance between them (~560 km). The BIC scores derived for the DAPC analysis indicate the optimal number of population clusters was 3 or 4 (Figure S1). Spatial genetic structure within the northern geographic cluster showed discrete non-overlapping clusters by populations. Populations from the central cluster were largely overlapping, with the exception of Garden Island settlement (GDNS), Point Peron (POPE), and Owen Anchorage (S4S2W), which formed discrete non-overlapping clusters (Figure 2C). Three of the four populations in Ngari Capes Marine Park clustered together, while the mid-shelf site near Broadwater (MBRD) was most genetically differentiated from all other southern populations (Figure 2D).

A DAPC analysis for Cockburn Sound populations formed a single cluster (overlapping 95% confidence intervals), with the exception of two populations, the most northernly site at Owen Anchorage (S4S2W) and the central Cockburn Sound site at Garden Island settlement (GDNS; Figure 3A). The single cluster included closely-related genotypes from Carnac Island in the north to Mangles Bay in the south. The Jervoise Bay (JERV) population also clustered separately, after the removal of Garden Island settlement (Figure 3B).



Figure 2. Discriminant analysis of principal component plots for all sampled *P. sinuosa* populations. A. All sampled populations (n = 28); B. northern populations only (n = 6); (continued over).



Figure 2. continued; C. central populations only (n = 18); D. southern populations only (n = 4). DAPC plots explained 68.1 %, 69.6 %, 66.9 %, and 69.9 % of the variation with 145, 35, 100, and 16 PCs retained, respectively. Coloured ellipses are 95% confidence intervals and dashed lines are drawn to aid interpretation.



Figure 3. Discriminant analysis of principal component (DAPC) plot for *Posidonia sinuosa* populations sampled within Cockburn Sound. A. All Cockburn Sound populations; B. without the Garden Island settlement (GDNS). DAPC explained 66.0% of the variation with 55 PCs retained in the first two discriminant eigenvalues. Coloured ellipses are 95% confidence intervals and dashed lines are drawn to aid interpretation.

The cross-entropy scores for the SNMF analysis infer the optimal number of genetic clusters was K = 4 (Figure 4). The large drop in cross-entropy at K = 2 can be explained by the 'K = 2 conundrum' and should be largely ignored (Janes et al., 2017). 'K' population outputs from SNMF were plotted for K = 2 - 6. Overall, there was high admixture across most of the sampled populations, with the exception of three central populations at Burns Rock (BURO), North Beach (NOBE) and Point Peron (POPE; Figure 5). The pattern was consisent with a low level of genetic differentiation across the latitudinal gradient.



Figure 4. Values for the cross entropy plot for K = 1 to 28. An optimal value of K = 4 populations was inferred.



Figure 5. Structure plot of individual assignment of genetic clusters (K = 2 - 6) from SNMF analysis visualised with CLUMPP and DISTRUCT. Populations are labelled below the plot, indicated by vertical black lines, and orientated from north to south (left to right). Population codes as in Table 1.

Weak, but significant, genetic structure was detected among *P. sinuosa* populations sampled across the latitudinal gradient based on global F_{ST} (= 0.080), with pairwise F_{ST} ranging from 0.012 to 0.176 (Table S1). A similar level of genetic differentiation was present among populations within each of the three geographic sampling clusters: northern (F_{ST} = 0.076), central (F_{ST} = 0.066); southern (F_{ST} = 0.049). There was also weak but significant genetic differentiation among the 11 sampled populations within Cockburn Sound (F_{ST} = 0.057).

Hierarchical AMOVA's indicated there was significant genetic structure associated with the mesoscale IMCRA bioregions (CWC, LNE), geographical sampling clusters (northern, central, southern) and the six sampling areas (GERO, JBMP, MMP, CSMC, SIMP, NCMP; Table 3). The proportion of variance was highly significant at all hierarchical levels and similar among all K population hypotheses tested. Less than 2.0 % of the variation was attributed to differences among regions (*F*rt) and < 5.0 % to difference among populations (*F*sr). Most of the variation was among individuals within populations (~40 %, p > 0.001) or within individuals (~54 %, p < 0.001).

 Table 3. Test of hierarchical Analysis of Molecular Variance (AMOVA) among sampled P. sinuosa populations.

Source of variation	<i>F</i> -statistic	d.f.	Sun of squares	Variance component (σ)	Total variation (%)	Phi-statistic (φ)	P value
IMCRA mesoscale bioregions (Central	west coast,	Leeuwin-Na	turaliste; n =	= 2):			
Between bioregions	Frt	1	5450.8	7.6	0.5	0.01	>0.002
Among meadows within bioregions	Fsr	26	85059.7	68.5	4.9	0.05	>0.001
Among individuals within meadows	Fst	259	487295.9	561.5	40.2	0.43	>0.001
Within individuals	Fis	287	217679.0	758.5	54.3	0.46	<0.001
Total	FIT	573	795485.4	1396.1	100.0		
Geographic clusters (northern, central	, southern; r	n = 3):					
Among clusters	Frt	2	11813.6	21.5	1.5	0.02	>0.001
Among meadows within clusters	Fsr	25	78696.9	61.7	4.4	0.04	>0.001
Among individuals within meadows	Fst	259	487295.9	561.5	40.0	0.43	>0.001
Within individuals	Fis	287	217679.0	758.5	54.1	0.46	<0.001
Total	FIT	573	795485.4	1403.1	100.0		
K = 4 populations (GERO, JBMP, cent	ral, NCMP):						
Among populations	Frt	3	15948.1	26.6	1.9	0.02	>0.001
Among meadows within populations	Fsr	24	74562.4	58.9	4.2	0.04	>0.001
Among individuals within meadows	Fst	259	487295.9	561.5	40.0	0.43	>0.001
Within individuals	Fis	287	217679.0	758.5	54.0	0.46	<0.001
Total	FIT	573	795485.4	1405.4	100.0		
K = 5 populations (GERO, JBMP, MMP	, CS + SIMP,	NCMP):					
Among populations	Frt	4	19941.6	22.0	1.6	0.02	>0.001
Among meadows within populations	Fsr	23	70568.9	57.6	4.1	0.04	>0.001
Among individuals within meadows	Fst	259	487295.9	561.5	40.1	0.43	>0.001
Within individuals	Fis	287	217679.0	758.5	54.2	0.46	<0.001
Total	FIT	573	795485.4	1399.6	100.0		
Sampling areas (GERO, JBMP, MMP, C	S, SIMP, NC	MP; n = 6):					
Among sampling areas	Frt	5	24270.6	20.9	1.5	0.01	>0.001
Among meadows within sampling areas	Fsr	22	66239.9	55.4	4.0	0.04	>0.001
Among individuals within meadows	FST	259	487295.9	561.5	40.2	0.43	>0.001
Within individuals	Fis	287	217679.0	758.5	54.3	0.46	<0.001
Total	FIT	573	795485.4	1396.2	100.0		

5.4 Contemporary migration among populations

We detected migration among all *P. sinuosa* populations along the WA coastline, with dispersal in a predominantly northerly direction (Figure 6; Table S2). The northern (Geraldton) and southern (Ngari Capes Marine Park) populations, however, had limited connectivity with central populations, as well as low migration among local populations. Maximum migration was 0.44 between the two Geraldton populations and 0.55 among populations within Ngari Capes Marine Park. The longest distance migration (> 0.5) occurred between Geraldton (BSFD) and Becher Point (BEPO) in Shoalwater Islands Marine Park, with a migration of 0.63 over a distance of 428 km. The northern most meadows at Geraldton (BSFD, POMO) were not well-connected with nearest populations to the south at Jurien Bay Marine Park (JUIS) and Owen Anchorage (S4S2W) over 212 km. Significant southward migration (> 0.6) was also observed among populations in Jurien Bay Marine Park (MULL, NOBE), Cockburn Sound (S4S2W, GRDN) and Shoalwater Islands Marine Park (MULL, NOBE), Cockburn Sound (S4S2W, GRDN) and Shoalwater Islands Marine Park (BEPO).

Populations in the central cluster - Marmion Marine Park (MULL, NOBE), northern Cockburn Sound (S4S2W, CAIS, GRDN) and Shoalwater Islands Marine Park (BEPO, WNBR) were well-connected, with predominantly northernly connections. Populations from central to southern Cockburn Sound were poorly connected (GNDP, KWIN). This included Mangles Bay (MANG), Garden Island Settlement (GDNS) and Point Peron (POPE) in the Shoalwater Island Marine Park which all had connectivity < 0.7 with neighbouring populations, and were thus not connected in Figure 6.

The most significant migration (darker lines) occurred within Jurien Bay Marine Park, and within and among the central populations (Figure 6, Marmion Marine Park, Cockburn Sound and Shoalwater Islands Marine Park). High migration was often detected between nearby populations: between Boulanger Island (BOUL) and Jurien Bay (JUIS) in Jurien Bay Marine Park (BOUL-JUIS = 0.82 over 5 km), between Mullaloo (MULL) and North Beach (NOBE) in the Marmion Marine Park (MULL-NOBE = 0.92 and NOBE-MULL = 0.91 over 11 km), between Carnac Island (CAIS), Woodman Point (WOOD) and Owen Anchorage (S4S2W) in Cockburn Sound (CAIS-S4S2W = 0.86 over 7 km; WOOD-S4S2W = 0.86 over 4 km), and between Warnbro Sound (WNBR, WBDP) and Becher Point (BEPO) in the Shoalwater Islands Marine Park (WNBR-BEPO = 1.0 over 7 km; WBDP-BEPO = 0.96 over 4 km). However, high migration also occurred up to 60 km, between Becher Point (BEPO) in the Shoalwater Islands Marine Park and North Beach (NOBE) in Marmion Marine Park, with a migration of 0.8. Strong northward migration was detected from multiple central populations in Shoalwater Islands Marine Park (WBDP, WNBR) and Cockburn Sound (CSWY, GNDP and CAIS) to North Beach (NOBE) and Mullaloo (MULL) in Marmion Marine Park, inferring dispersal distances up to 66 km (WBDP-MULL). North Beach (NOBE) and Mullaloo (MULL) appear to act as a sink for northward migration, while Becher Point (BEPO) primarily receives southwards migration, mostly from Marmion Marine Park. Owen Anchorage (S4S2W) appears to be acting as a 'sink' for both southward and northward migration, although northward migration was stronger and more common.



Figure 6. Directional migration network among sampled *P. sinuosa* populations. Only populations with significant migration >0.7 are shown in the maps on the left. The map on the right shows all populations that were included in the analysis, with rectangles indicating the locations of the three maps on the left. Populations are indicated by coloured nodes and codes (codes only for populations with migration >0.7) (described in Table 1) and are oriented relative to geographic location. Arrows and lines indicate direction and strength of relative migration rates: dark blue arrows = > 0.80; light blue arrows = 0.7 - 0.79.

A significant Isolation by distance (IBD) relationship was detected among *P. sinuosa* meadows along the WA coastline (Figure 5; Mantel statistic = 0.52, p <0.01; Table S2). Patches of high density indicate that there was greater connectivity among meadows that were geographically closer (< ~30 km, Figure 7). However, moderate to long distance dispersal events also occurred at lower frequencies along the broader continental shelf, suggesting connectivity up to ~200 km. Monmonier barrier analysis identified a significant barrier to dispersal in central Cockburn Sound, where there was low to no connectivity between southern Cockburn Sound populations (Garden Island settlement, Southern Flats, Mangles Bay) with other populations to the north (Jervoise Bay, Kwinana, Woodman Point) (Figure S2).



Figure 7. Isolation by distance. Heat map of genetic distance (F_{ST}) relative to geographic distance (over water >1m depth). Colours represent the relative density of the points; from low (blue) to high (red) density. Pairwise distance is 0 - 560 km.

5.5 Genotype by Environment association

Genotype by environment association analyses identified putatively adaptive loci across the eight out of ten environmental variables (Table 4; SSTma, SSTmax, SSTmax, SSTmin, SSTmin, SSTmin, rAR, kd490, and depth). SST_{WARMQ} and SST_{COLDQ} were dropped from these association tests as they were highly correlated with SST_{summer} and SST_{winter}, respectively. A total of 474 out of 7,777 putative adaptive SNP loci were identified across both methods, 368 (4.7 %) using LFMM2 and 247 (3.2 %) using RDA (Table 4, Figure 8). The higher number of loci identified using LFMM2 was likely due to the less conservation nature of the method, despite applying conservative thresholds across multiple environmental. Most environmental associations for univariate LFMM2 and multivariate RDA were associated with mean sea surface temperature in summer (SST_{summer}) and mean sea surface temperature in the warmest month (SST_{max}; Table 4). SST_{max} exhibited the most unique associations (n = 215) across both methods. Several loci were detected on multiple occasions. 139 out of the 474 (= 29.3%) unique loci were associated with the same environmental variable across both methodologies, with greatest congruence for SST_{summer} (n = 71/163, 43.6 %). Two loci were detected in both methods with different environmental variables, although no gene identification was made. Locus X0041 was significantly associated with mean sea surface temperature of the warmest (SST_{summer}; RDA) and coolest month (SST_{winter}; LFMM2). Locus X5464 was associated with depth (RDA) and annual range in mean sea surface temperature (TAR; LFMM2).

Table 4. Genotype by environment association analyses (GEAs). Number of putative adaptive loci associated with environmental variables using two GEA detection methods: Latent Factor Mixed Model 2 (LFMM2) and Redundancy Analysis (RDA).

Environmental variable	Abbreviation	No. loci LFMM2	No. loci RDA	Combined (unique)
mean annual sea surface temperature	SST _{MA} (°C)	115	3	116
mean sea surface temperature of the warmest month	SST _{max} (°C)	139	97	215
mean sea surface temperature of summer	SST _{summer} (°C)	161	73	163
mean sea surface temperature of the coolest month	SST _{min} (°C)	105	3	105
mean sea surface temperature of winter	SST _{winter} (°C)	118	1	118
mean sea surface temperature annual range	TAR (°C)	113	46	128
mean water turbidity	kd490 (m⁻¹)	87	14	93
Depth	Depth (m)	34	10	42
TOTAL (unique)		368	247	474



Figure 8. Venn diagrams of putatively adaptive loci detected between and among the two genotype by environment association methods (redundancy analysis (RDA) and Latent Factor Mixed Model 2 (LFMM2)) for eight environmental variables: SST_{ma} = mean annual sea surface temperature; SST_{max} = mean maximum sea surface temperature; SST_{summer} = mean austral summer sea surface temperature; SST_{min} = mean minimum sea surface temperature; SST_{summer} = mean annual range of sea surface temperature; kd490 = turbidity; and depth.

Higher allelic turnover (> 0.25) of putatively adaptive loci in the GDM was found in 33 out of 159 loci (20.8%; Figure 9). The 150 bp *P. sinuosa* sequences were based on partial alignments with the *Arabidopsis thaliana* genome. Of the loci that had a higher turnover across environmental space, locus X5371 exhibited the greatest deviance out of all of the environmental variables and appears to be highly informative in adaptation to warmer sea surface temperatures (SST_{max} > 0.80). Locus X0295 had the highest allelic turnover in four variables (SST_{ma}, SST_{winter}, Kd490; Table 5). Locus X1496 was observed to have an allelic turnover greater than 0.5 in SST_{max} and SST_{summer}.

The locations where seasonal changes in allelic turnover related to temperature (> 0.4) occurred between Jurien Bay Marine Park and Geraldton (Figure 9A-C ■: SST_{max} 22.08 – 23.18 °C, SST_{summer} 21.44 – 22.26 °C; SST_{min}: 20.20 - 20.35 °C; SST_{winter} 20.02 - 20.30 °C), Perth metropolitan waters and Jurien Bay Marine Park (Figure 9A-E ▲: SST_{max} 21.88 – 22.08 °C; SST_{summer} 21.27 – 21.44 °C; SST_{min}: 18.85 -20.22 °C; SSTwinter 18.81 - 20.22 °C), and Ngari Capes Marine Park and Perth metropolitan waters (Figure 9A-E * : SST_{max} 20.78 - 21.88 °C; SST_{summer} 20.21 - 21.27 °C; SST_{min}: 17.56 - 18.85 °C; SST_{winter} 17.53 – 18.81 °C). For example, for the top loci curves associated with SST_{ma} (Figure 9A), there was a rapid allele frequency change from locations where SST_{ma} is 19 °C up to locations where SST_{ma} is 19.8 °C and above after which allele frequency remained constant. In this case all populations within the Perth metropolitan waters (=Marmion Marine Park, Cockburn Sound, Shoalwater Islands Marine Park), Jurien Bay Marine Park, and Geraldton have a similar allele frequency, whilst Ngari Capes Marine Park was different. In contrast, the bottom curve in Figure 9A shows similar allele frequency from locations with 19 °C up to 20 °C, then the curve increases with increasing temperature. This change occurred at Jurien Bay Marine Park, indicating all locations south of Jurien Bay have a similar allele frequency. These two trends in allelic turnover can be observed in loci for each temperature variable, although the level of turnover differed. There was no latitudinal cline associated with allelic turnover for mean annual range of sea surface temperature (TAR), turbidity (kd490) or depth (Figure 9F-H), although there was an abrupt turnover for locus X6536 for at 4 - 5 m depth (Figure 9H).



Figure 9. Spline plots of allelic turnover across environmental space for (A) mean annual sea surface temperature (SST_{max}), (B) mean sea surface temperature of the warmest month (SST_{max}), (C) mean summer sea surface temperature (SST_{summer}), (D) mean sea surface temperature of the coolest month (SST_{min}), (E) mean winter sea surface temperature (SST_{winter}), (F) mean annual range of sea surface temperature (TAR), (G) mean diffuse attenuation coefficient at 490 nm (turbidity; kd490) and (H) depth. Each curve corresponds to a specific locus that has a significant turnover for a particular variable. * = change in allelic turnover differentiates Ngari Capes Marine Park from Perth metropolitan waters populations; \blacktriangle = allelic turnover differentiates Perth metropolitan waters populations from Jurien Bay Marine Park and Geraldton, = allelic turnover differentiates Jurien Bay Marine Park from Park from

Genes were identified for 15 putatively adaptive SNP loci from the *Arabidopsis thaliana* genome (Table 5). Thirteen of the putatively adaptive SNP loci were associated with temperature variables, with four associated with more than one variable. Locus X4745 aligned most significantly with the AT4G20520 protein-coding gene on chromosome 4 in *A. thaliana* (Bit score = 43.7, E value = 0.001). Locus X5371 significantly aligned with an AT Expansin A3 gene on *A. thaliana* chromosome 2 (AT2G37640; Bit score = 40.1, E value = 0.012). Locus X0295 (AT1G11362; Bit score = 38.3, E value = 0.042) was identified as a plant invertase/pectin methyl esterase inhibitor superfamily protein and associated with four environmental variables. Other notable genes identified relate to specific heat shock proteins (X1496, X5888) and metabolic processes associated with plant growth and development (X0590, X3439, X3793, X4643).

Table 5. Putatively adaptive genes with loci exhibiting the largest allelic turnover across environmental space and identified against *Arabidopsis thaliana*. AGRF ID = the sequencing fragment identifier provided by AGRF; Locus ID = the sequential locus identifier used by researchers; Chr. = chromosome aligned to *A. thaliana*.

			Arabidopsis thaliana Accession										
AGRF ID	Locus ID	Environ. variable	Bit score	E-value	Chr.	Position Start/End	Gene name and description						
7167	X0295	X0295 SSTma SSTmin SSTwinter kd490 38.3 0.042		0.042	1	3824630/ 3825184	AT1G11362: Plant invertase/pectin methyl esterase inhibitor superfamily protein						
112252	X4745	SSTma	43.7	0.001	4	11045912/ 11047716	AT4G20520: RNA binding/RNA-directed DNA polymerase						
12366	X0590	SSTma SSTmin SSTwinter	31.0	6.2	5	5202798/ 5204478	AT5G15940: NAD(P)- binding Rossmann-fold superfamily protein						
151010	X5371	SSTmax	40.1	0.012	2	15788077/ 15789577	AT2G37640: AT Expansin A3 gene						
		SSTmax			5	2862719/ 2865359	AT5G09210: GC-rich sequence DNA binding factor-like protein						
27226	X1496	SSTsummer	31.0	6.2	4	6370537/ 6371124	AT4G10250: ATHSP22 Columbia endomembrane- localised small heat shock protein						
67870	X3439	SSTmax	35.6	0.15	4	6024970/ 6026751	AT4G09520: AHL3 AT hook motif DNA-binding family protein						
106437	X4643	SSTsummer kd490	35.6	0.15	5	20176385/ 20188307	AT5G49680: conserved among eukaryotes, predicted to be targeted to the secretory pathway						
77482	X3847	SSTsummer	32.8	1.8	5	19444313/ 19446970	AT5G48000: Encodes a member of the CYP708A family of cytochrome P450 enzymes						

219999	X5888	SSTmin	32.8	1.8	2	10881790/ 10883760	AT2G25560: DNAJ heat shock N-terminal domain- containing protein
247935	X6166	TAR	35.6	0.15	3	18215788/ 18217848	AT3G49142: Tetratricopeptide repeat (TPR)-like superfamily protein
76014	X3793	TAR	35.6	0.15	5	15158342/ 15160118	AT5G38010: UDP-Glycosyltransferase superfamily protein
372110	X6940	TAR	31.0	6.2	3	19925254/ 19926648	AT3G53780: RHOMBOID-like protein 4
372110	X6536	Depth	31.9	1.8	5	435322/ 436683	AT5G02190: Aspartic protease 38, important role in determining cell fate during embryonic development
			31.9	1.8	5	1400832/ 1401584	AT4G03170: AP2/B3-like transcriptional factor family protein
			31.9	1.8	3	8575268/ 8581001	AT3G23790: AAE16, AMP- dependent synthetase and ligase family protein involved in fatty acid biosynthesis
494001	X7405	Depth	31.9	1.8	1	7489385/ 7490554	AT1G21390: emb2170
			31.9	1.8	1	6207128/ 6209299	AT1G18040: Cyclin- dependent kinase D1, regulation of cell cycle
			31.9	1.8	5	23911151/ 23913244	AT5G59270: L-type lectin receptor kinase 11.2 involved in bacterial defence
38871	X2057	Depth	31.9	1.8	3	18046527/ 18049295	AT3G48720: encodes a hydroxycinnamoyl-CoA: v- hydroxy fatty acid transferase involved in cutin synthesis

6 Discussion

A population genomic and genome by environment approach of the IUCN Vulnerable listed seagrass species, P. sinuosa, was applied along ~560 km latitudinal gradient of the WA coastline from Geraldton to Geographe Bay. The goal was to inform potential options to build resilience to ocean warming into these populations, particularly in Perth metropolitan waters where urbanisation and further proposed industrial developments may place seagrass meadows under further pressure. Genetic diversity was low, and within populations was similar along the coastline, including a high level of inbreeding detected. The populations were generally genetically well connected via gene flow, with evidence for long distance dispersal predominantly northwards. Significant southwards and northwards migration was detected over smaller spatial scales (~60 km), particularly across Perth metropolitan waters. This evidence of migration supports weak genetic structure among the *P. sinuosa* meadows sampled (global F_{ST} = 0.080) with the most southern region more distinct from those further north. The lack of strong patterns in genetic structure along the coastline, and identification of allelic turnover in putative adaptive loci associated with temperature, provides support for resilience building options, such as translocation through assisted migration or climate adjusted provenancing. Allelic turnover for some of these alleles associated with temperature were detected between Perth metropolitan waters and populations further south, or Perth metropolitan waters and Jurien Bay Marine Park, suggesting these loci may be warm-adapted and good candidates for further studies linked to resilience building.

6.1 Population diversity, connectivity, and structure

Similar levels of genetic diversity were present in all P. sinuosa populations sampled throughout the latitudinal range, and most of the variation was attributed to within populations. This is in contrast to lower levels of diversity detected in range edge populations including the northern range edge populations for two habitat forming species along the WA coastline, P. australis (Sinclair et al., 2023) and the kelp, Ecklonia radiata (Wernberg et al., 2018), where genetic diversity (clonal, allelic, heterozygosity) significantly declined at lower latitudes. The highly positive F_{IS} values in all P. sinuosa populations were consistent with widespread inbreeding (a result of pollination among closely-related plants within populations), differing from outcrossed P. australis populations, possibly assisted via the long inflorescence stems in the latter species (Sinclair et al., 2020). Posidonia sinuosa develops fruit on short inflorescence stems which remain within the leaf canopy, compared to P. australis where they visibly extend above the leaf canopy (Cambridge and Kuo 1979; Smith and Walker, 2002). The almost complete absence of resampled clones within populations was consistent with a more vertical growth form in P. sinuosa, relative to P. australis which has extensive horizontal rhizome expansion at tens of metres (e.g. Sinclair et al., 2014; Evans et al., 2014; Sinclair et al., 2023) to > 100 km (Edgeloe et al., 2022). We note that within population sampling distances between P. sinuosa shoots were larger than in the P. australis studies, thus favouring sampling from different genetic individuals. High clonal diversity highlights the importance of sexual reproduction and dispersal for maintaining seagrass populations (reviewed in Kendrick et al., 2012, 2017). This genetic diversity provides some resilience as populations with a diversity of genotypes may be able to respond to changing or extreme environmental conditions that could mitigate population declines.

We identified a highly connected meta-population over 560 km of coastline. Genetic structure was weaker than expected, as the sister taxon, *P. australis*, sampled over a similar range had much higher differentiation (F_{ST} = 0.268, p < 0.001; Sinclair et al., 2023). We note, however, that these two studies used different genetic markers (SNPs versus microsatellites) with different sampling strategies, although it has been shown that the markers are broadly comparable for assessing population structure (Emanuelli et al., 2013; e.g. Phair et al., 2019). The somewhat contrasting population structure along the WA coastline between persistent *P. australis* and *P. sinuosa* populations is

interesting given the two species have largely overlapping, naturally fragmented ranges, with the ability to disperse fruit via surface currents over 10s – 100s km among meadows (Ruiz-Montoya et al., 2015).

We predicted our study sites would show genetic structure associated with the sampling regions, where P. sinuosa generally forms dense meadows in embayments or more protected waters inshore of temperate reefs (northern - Geraldton and Jurien Bay; central – Perth metropolitan waters including Cockburn Sound; southern - Geographe Bay). The weak, but significant genetic structure was in fact detected at all hierarchical levels tested, although it explained < 2 % of the genetic variation at higher levels. Overall structure in P. sinuosa more closely resembled the panmictic populations observed in species with pelagic larval dispersal along the WA coastline (e.g. dhufish, Glaucosoma hebraicum, Berry et al., 2012; western rock lobster, *Panulirus cyanus*, Kennington et al., 2013), highlighting the important role of the Leeuwin Current, Capes Current and local hydrodynamics play in connecting populations at different spatial scales. Overall, our results indicate that P. sinuosa populations along the WA coastline were more genetically connected than P. australis meadows. Posidonia sinuosa has smaller, narrower fruit (and seeds) relative to P. australis, so appear less likely to disperse as far due to windage (Orth, 1999). Buoyant fruits of P. australis can disperse 10s to about 100 km among meadows via surface currents and windage (Ruiz-Montoya et al., 2015). These two biological traits (associated pollen and seed dispersal) could lead to less connectivity among P. sinuosa populations, although our results do not support this. The more open water sites at Becher Point, Owen Anchorage and Marmion Marine Park show populations were well-connected, although they did not have significantly higher levels of genetic diversity. Thus, local pollination is driving high levels of inbreeding (leading to closely-related genotypes within populations), and occasional recruitment (from dispersing fruit/seeds) has maintained genetic connectivity among populations more broadly, despite successful seedling recruitment known to be a significant bottleneck in seagrasses (Hocking et al., 1980; Statton et al., 2017).

6.2 Cockburn Sound area

Genetic structure among *P. sinuosa* populations within the Cockburn Sound area was weak ($F_{ST} = 0.057$), and similar to the closely related taxon, *P. australis* ($F_{ST} = 0.085$, Sinclair et al., 2014), although there was no significant north-south pattern in *P. sinuosa*. There was a high level of connectivity among populations across Perth metropolitan waters from Shoalwater Islands Marine Park Marmion Marine Park, over ~70 km of coastline based on migration analysis, with the exception of meadows towards the southern half of Cockburn Sound. This indicates the species has been effective at dispersing fruit across this region over time. A predominantly northward dispersal pattern was consistent with modelling of *P. australis* fruit dispersal using a particle-tracking model developed by Ruiz-Montoya et al. (2015). Ruiz-Montoya et al. (2012) reported 75 % of *P. australis* fruit dehisced within four days of being released, with long distance dispersal events were detected at > 100 km (Ruiz-Montoya et al., 2015). *Posidonia australis* shares a similar life history to *P. sinuosa*, with floating fruit dehisced in late spring to early summer, although *P. sinuosa* fruit (and seeds) are smaller and narrower, relative to *P. australis*, so are maybe less likely to disperse as far due to windage (Orth, 1999).

The most genetically differentiated populations of *P. sinuosa* were Owen Anchorage and Garden Island settlement, different to *P. australis* with Mangles Bay and Carnac Island most distinct(Sinclair et al., 2014, 2018). Mangles Bay had the lowest genetic diversity for *P. australis* (Sinclair et al., 2014), but this was not the case for *P. sinuosa* where all meadows had similar levels of genetic diversity. Mangles Bay is a sheltered site at the southern end of Cockburn Sound where water movement is restricted (Steedman and Craig, 1983) and a low probability of connectivity was detected, into/out of southern Cockburn Sound, as was the case with *P. australis* (Ruiz-Montoya et al., 2015; Sinclair et al.,

2018). Low to no connectivity, combined with the high epiphytic algal cover and long-term decline of seagrass in Mangles Bay (Webster et al., 2024) may reduce the likelihood of healthy *Posidonia* meadows in the future. Mangles Bay is a potential site for resilience building interventions where short-term mitigation efforts, such as the translocation of genotypes to increase genomic diversity could be employed and be successful, though long-term monitoring, quantification, and validation will be required.

6.3 Local adaptation

Plants are sessile organisms, so the need to adapt to changing environments is critical. Thirteen of the putatively adaptive loci detected in P. sinuosa, were associated with A. thaliana annotated genes related to temperature, consistent with temperature being one of the most important factors associated with climate change in the marine environment (Duarte et al., 2018). Some of these genes come from large ancient families present across the plant kingdom, for example, the AT-hook motif gene family (AT4G09520; Zhang et al., 2022), the plant invertase/Pectin methylesterase inhibitor superfamily (AT1G11362; Coculo and Lionetti, 2022) and the Cytochromes P450 (AT5G48000; Hansen et al., 2021). This work contributes to an increasing number of studies exploring a genetic basis of local adaptation in seagrasses (e.g. Lauritano et al. 2015; Phair et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2023; Nimbs et al., 2024; Sotka et al., 2024). Our results provide evidence to justify exploring the potential for resilience building options in southern P. sinousa populations to future-proof against ocean-warming and heatwaves. Putatively adaptive loci (< 4.7 %) were detected in P. sinuosa, despite high levels of gene flow across the seascape that can counteract selection. It is not uncommon for adaptation of populations within a species to their local environments to occur with high gene flow (Savolainen et al, 2007; Tigano and Friesen, 2016). Empirical studies are needed to determine if the genetic variation is truly adaptive and provide insights into adaptation and potential drivers of selection (Rellstab et al., 2015).

Physiological assessments of P. sinuosa along this latitudinal gradient have identified higher thermal optima in Geraldton and Jurien Bay Marine Park populations relative to Cockburn Sound (Said et al., 2024), supporting inferences from the genome by environment analysis. The thermal optimum for P. sinuosa populations between Geraldton and Ngari Capes Marine Park varied by ~4 °C (Topt = 26.5 -30.7 °C; Said et al., 2024). Interestingly, Cockburn Sound (Perth metropolitan waters) had the lowest optimum temperature (T_{opt} = 26.5 °C), and was the location of a significant barrier to gene flow and allelic turnover. The thermal optima from Said et al. (2024) were warmer than the published thermal optima for *P. sinuosa* from Marmion Marine Park almost 25 years earlier (T_{opt} = 18 – 23 °C; Masini and Manning, 1997). However, 23 °C was the maximum temperature tested by Masini and Manning (1997), while Said et al. (2024) generated thermal performance curves for P. sinuosa plants between 15 - 40 °C. The thermal optimum temperatures from Said et al. (2024) were also higher than current mean sea surface temperatures of the warmest month and mean sea surface temperature for summer, suggesting that populations may be able to tolerate future projected temperatures up to a point, but are unlikely to tolerate current projections which equate to +3.2 °C by 2100 (IPCC, 2023). The additional temperature associated with extreme marine heat waves (e.g. +2 - 4 °C Wernberg et al., 2013) would likely lead to breakdown of cellular processes, such as photosynthesis, ATP synthesis, and respiration, leading to canopy loss and death (e.g. Rassmusson et al., 2020). A mesocosm experiment conducted using P. australis seedlings collected from Woodman Point in Cockburn Sound, showed that exposing dehisced seedlings to thermal priming of 26 °C (exposure to 5 °C above local spring temperatures) prior to planting did not improve survival or growth rates of seedlings growing in warmer conditions (Whale et al., 2024b). This result suggests that thermal priming may not be a useful strategy to assist with climate change adaptation in Australian Posidonia spp., highlighting the importance of incorporating remaining natural seagrass meadows that are already warm-adapted into resilience building strategies. This could be through transplantation of seeds or vegetative units.

Further research is required to explore these opportunities. Of relevance is the impact of warming on seed production in *Posidonia*. Little is known about the triggers of floral development (leading to reproduction) in *Posidonia spp.*, although it coincides with cooler temperatures and shortening day length in the Austral autumn (McComb et al., 1981). A negative impact of warmer ocean temperatures on flowering and seed production is potentially reduced opportunities for seed-based restoration, and less seed production could also have implications for genetic connectivity among the naturally fragmented *P. sinuosa* populations along the WA coastline, with reduced connectivity (reviewed in Kendrick et al., 2017).

The lack of annotated seagrass genomes created challenges for gene coding regions and gene function identification. However, coding regions and gene functions associated with temperature, turbidity and depth were identified, suggesting that environmental adaptation can be inferred for non-model organisms (seagrasses), even when compared to the unrelated model organism A. thaliana. Locus X0295 (AT1G11362) was identified as a plant invertase/pectin methyl esterase inhibitor which belongs to a large protein superfamily with distinct enzymatic activities in carbohydrate metabolism (Cucolo and Lionetti, 2022), yet it was associated with temperature and turbidity variables. There is limited work on adaptation in seagrasses, but gene expression profiles in the mediterranean seagrass Posidonia oceanica suggested locally adapted genotypes were linked to a depth-light-temperature relationship (Proccacini et al., 2017). Two loci with allelic turnover, locus X5888 (SST_{min}) between Perth metropolitan waters and Jurien Bay Marine Park and locus X1496 (SST_{max}, SST_{summer}) between Ngari Capes Marine Park and Perth metropolitan waters, were identified as heat shock proteins. The temperature differences associated with these allelic turnovers were less than 1.4 °C. Small plant heat shock proteins are ubiquitous, acting as molecular chaperones to protect other proteins from stressinduced damage (Waters and Vierling, 2020; e.g. Lauritano et al., 2015). They are also sensitive to minor changes and Bergman et al. (2010) suggest they are suitable as early-warning bio-indicators of seagrass health.

There are many physiological processes associated with temperature adaptation in plants (Allen et al., 2010), that are likely determined by loci of small effect to mitigate the risk of extinction (Gomulkiewicz et al., 2010). We suggest that these processes will be complex in marine systems, as multiple genes were identified in temperature regulation in *P. sinuosa* to maintain plant function and growth and development. The loci detected in this study may be a small part in the overall adaptation in the *P. sinuosa* genome. The detection of these loci provides inferences of environmental adaptation, and further experimental evidence will be required to validate this relationship. We note that the large (4-5 km pixel resolution) for environmental data was unlikely to pick up fine scale variation, particularly associated with turbidity (kd490) or depth (m). Depth (as a proxy for light) is an import factor for seagrass growth and persistence, and the depth range sampled here (< 20 m) was well within the normal range for seagrass meadows (in the absence of disturbance events).

Resilience building options such as assisted (gene) migration to supplement cool-origin populations with individuals of warmer-origin is promising but there are potential downsides to consider. A major concern is that this activity could lead to outbreeding depression of maladapted alleles in the cool-origin populations due to translocating individuals from the warmer origin (Broadhurst et al., 2008; Breed et al., 2018). It is likely that any benefits of assisted migration would outweigh any negative impacts into the recipient population, since both neutral and adaptive genomic diversity would be enhanced. *In situ* common garden experiments using potential donor populations can determine whether assisted gene migration would be viable. The assisted migration future-proofing strategy could be deployed between populations exhibiting similar genomic characteristics, such as Jurien Bay Marine Park and Cockburn Sound, to value-add to existing restoration approaches, such as 'Seeds for Snapper' (Sinclair et al., 2021) or develop new programs to supplement genetic diversity and future-proof less well-connected populations in southern Cockburn Sound.

7 Conclusions/recommendations

Overall, we highlight the importance of using genomic tools in determining genetic diversity, connectivity and assessment of putative adaptation in seagrass meadows. Genomic data can inform decision-making for conservation and restoration efforts by characterising gene flow among meadows, and detecting where, or which populations are genetically distinct. Here, we found similar levels of genetic diversity and inbreeding among all sampled *Posidonia sinuosa* populations along the WA coastline, with evidence of some weak population structure. We highlight high connectivity among central populations, but also evidence of migration among three geographic clusters. Most putatively adaptive genetic markers detected were associated with temperature variables that may be important for this species and may also indicate the presence of local adaptation in warmer populations. We suggest that translocations of warmer-adapted genotypes between populations that have exhibited historic connectivity would be a viable strategy for future conservation to build resilience in *Posidonia sinuosa*.

8 Acknowledgements

We thank Jessica Billingshurst, Conor Gorham, Caitlyn O'Dea, and Jack Robinson for assistance in the field; DPIRD and DBCA provided vessel support; Dr Marion Cambridge assisted with species identification; Natasha Dunham for assistance in the lab. All collections were made under valid state scientific collection permits (FT61001017 and CE006581) and Fisheries exemption permits (1844408 and 7632131).

9 References

Ahrens, C. W., Jordan, R., Bragg, J., Harrison, P. A., Hopley, T., Bothwell, H., Murray, K., Steane, D. A., Whale, J. W., Byrne, M., Andrew, R. L., Rymer, P. D. (2021) Regarding the *F*-word: The effects of Filtering on inferred genotype-environment associations. *Molecular Ecology Resources 21*: 1460-1474.

Aitken, S. N., Whitlock, M. C. (2013) Assisted gene flow to facilitate local adaptation to climate change. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 44: 367-388.

Allen, C. D., Macalady, A. K., Chenchouni, H., Bachelet, D., McDowell, N. G., Vennetier, M., Kitzberger, T., Rigling, A., Breshears, D. D., Hogg, E. H., Gonzalez, P., Fensham, R., Zhang, Z., Castro, J., Demidova, N., Lim, J-H., Allard, G., Running, S. W., Semerci, A., Cobb, N. (2010) A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. *Forest Ecology and Management 259*: 660-684.

Anderegg, W. R. L., Anderegg, L. D. L., Kerr, K. L., Trugman, A. T. (2019) Widespread drought-induced tree mortality at dry range edges indicates that climate stress exceeds species' compensating mechanisms. *Global Change Biology* 25(11): 3793-3802.

Arnaud-Haond, S., Duarte, C. M., Alberto, F., Serrão, E. A. (2007) Standardizing methods to address clonality in population studies. *Molecular Ecology* 16: 5115-5139.

Barceló, A., Sandoval-Castillo, J., Brauer, C. J., Bilgmann, K., Parra, G. J., Beheregaray, L. B., Möller, L. M. (2022) Seascape genomics of common dolphins (*Delphinus delphis*) reveals adaptive diversity linked to regional and local oceanography. *BMC Ecology and Evolution 22*: 88.

Bay, R. A., Harrigan, R. J., Underwood, V. L., Gibbs, H. L., Smith, T. B., Ruegg, K. (2018) Genomic signals of selection predict climate-driven population declines in a migratory bird. *Science 359*(6371): 83-86.

Bayer, P. E., Fraser, M. W., Martin, B. C., Petereit, J., Severn-Ellis, A. A., Sinclair, E. A., Batley, J., Kendrick,G. A., Edwards, D. (preprint) Not all pathways are the same – unique adaptations to submergedenvironmentsemergefromcomparativeseagrassgenomics.https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2022.11.22.517588v2

Berardini, T. Z., Reiser, L., Li, D., Mezheritsky, Y., Muller, R., Strait, E., Huala, E. (2015) The Arabidopsis Information Resource: Making and mining the "gold standard" annotated reference plant genome. *Genesis* 53: 474-485.

Bergmann, N., Winters, G., Rauch, G., Eizaguirre, C., Gu, J., Nelle, P., Fricke, B., Reusch, T. B. H. (2010) Population-specificity of heat stress gene induction in northern and southern eelgrass *Zostera marina* populations under simulated global warming. *Molecular Ecology* 19: 2870-2883.

Berry, O., England, P. R., Fairclough, D., Jackson, G., Greenwood, J. (2012) Microsatellite DNA analysis and hydrodynamic modelling reveal the extent of larval transport and gene flow between management zones in an exploited marine fish (*Glaucosoma hebraicum*). *Fisheries Oceanography* 21: 243-254.

Breed, M. F., Harrison, P. A., Bischoff, A., Durruty, P., Gellie, N. J. C., Gonzales, E. K., Havens, K., Karmann, M., Kilkenny, F. F., Krauss, S. L. (2018) Priority actions to improve provenance decision-making. *Bioscience 68*: 510-516.

Breheny, N. B., Beckley, L. E., Wakefield, C. B. (2012) Ichthyoplankton assemblages associated with pink snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) spawning aggregations in coastal embayments of southwestern Australia. *Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia* 95(2): 103-114.

Bricker, E., Calladine, A., Virnstein, R., Waycott, M. (2018) Mega clonality in an aquatic plant - a potential survival strategy in a changing environment. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 9: 435-435.

Broadhurst, L. M., Lowe, A., Coates, D. J., Cunningham, S. A., McDonald, M., Vesk, P. A., Yates, C. (2008) Seed supply for broadscale restoration: Maximising evolutionary potential. *Evolutionary Applications* 1: 587-597.

Cambridge, M. L., Kuo, J. (1979) Two new species of seagrasses from Australia, *Posidonia sinuosa* and *P. angustifolia* (Posidoniaceae). *Aquatic Botany 6*: 307-328.

Cambridge, M. L., Kuo, J. (1982) Morphology, anatomy and histochemistry of the Australian seagrasses of the genus *Posidonia* König (Posidoniaceae). III *Posidonia sinuosa* Cambridge & Kuo. *Aquatic Botany* 14: 1-14.

Cambridge, M.L., McComb, A. J. (1984) The loss of seagrasses in Cockburn Sound, Western Australia. I. The time course and magnitude of seagrass decline in relation to industrial development. *Aquatic Botany 20*: 229-243.

Cambridge, M. L, Chiffings, A. W., Brittan, C., Moore, L., McComb, A. J. (1986) The loss of seagrass in Cockburn sound, Western Australia. II. Possible causes of seagrass decline. *Aquatic Botany* 24: 269-285.

Cao, Y. N., Zhu, S. S., Chen, J., Comes, H. P., Wang, I. J., Chen, L. Y., Sakaguchi, S., Qiu, Y. X. (2020) Genomic insights into historical population dynamics, local adaptation, and climate change vulnerability of the East Asian Tertiary relict *Euptelea* (Eupteleaceae). *Evolutionary Applications 13*: 2038-2055.

Caye, K., Jumentier, B., Lepeule, J., François, O. (2019) LFMM 2: Fast and accurate inference of geneenvironment associations in genome-wide studies. *Molecular Biology and Evolution 36*: 852-860.

Christmas, M. J., Breed, M. F., Lowe, A. J. (2015) Constraints to and conservation implications for climate change adaptation in plants. *Conservation Genetics* 17: 305-320.

Coculo, D., Lionetti, V. (2022) The Plant Invertase/Pectin Methylesterase Inhibitor Superfamily. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 13: 863892.

Coles, R., McKenzie, L., Rasheed, M., Mellors, J., Taylor, H., Dew, K., McKenna, S., Sankey, T., Carter, A., Grech, A. (2007) *Status and trends of seagrass habitats in the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area*. Department of Primary Industries and Fisheries.

Commonwealth of Australia (2006) *A guide to the Integrated Marine and Coastal Regionalisation of Australia Version 4.0.* Canberra, Australia, Department of Environment and Heritage.

Cunze, S., Heydel, F., Tackenberg, O. (2013) Are plant species able to keep pace with the rapidly changing climate. *PLoS One 8*: e67909.

Dai, Y., Li, X., Song, B., Sun, L., Yang, C., Zhang, X., Wang, Y., Zhang, Z., Fu, Y., Li, Y. (2019) Genomic analyses provide insights into the evolutionary history and genetic diversity of Auricularia species. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 10: 468848.

Daniell, H., Lin, C. S., Chang, W. J. (2016) Chloroplast genomes: diversity, evolution, and applications in genetic engineering. *Genome Biology* 17: 1-29.

De Meeûs, T., Goudet, J. (2007) A step-by-step tutorial to use HierFstat to analyse populations hierarchically structured at multiple levels. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* 7(6): 731-735.

Doneus, M., Doneus, N., Briese, C., Pregesbauer, M., Mandlburger, G., Verhoeven, G. (2013) Airborne laser bathymetry – detecting and recording submerged archaeological sites from the air. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 40: 2136-2151.

Dorken, M. E., Eckert, C. G. (2001) Severely reduced sexual reproduction in northern populations of a clonal plant, *Decodon verticillatus* (Lythraceae). *Journal of Ecology 89*: 339-350.

Double, M. C., Andrews-Goff, V., Jenner, K. C. S., Jenner, M-N., Laverick, S. M., Branch, T. A., Gales, N. J. (2014) Migratory movements of pygmy blue whales (*Balaenoptera musculus brevicauda*) between Australia and Indonesia as revealed by satellite telemetry. *PLoS ONE 9(4):* e93578.

Duarte, B., Martins, I., Rosa, R., Matos, A. R., Roleda, M. Y., Reusch, T. B. H., Engelen, A. H., Serrão, E. A., Pearson, G. A., Marques, J. C., Caçador, I., Duarte, C. M., Jueterbock, A. (2018) Climate change impacts on seagrass meadows and macroalgal forests: an integrative perspective on acclimation and adaptation potential. *Frontiers in Marine Science 5*: 190.

Edgar, G. J., Barrett, N. S., Crane, K., Bancroft, K. (2007) Ecosystem monitoring of subtidal reefs in different management zones of the Jurien Bay Marine Park 1999-2007. University of Tasmania. Report.

Edgeloe, J. M., Severn-Ellis, A. A., Bayer, P. E., Mehravi, S., Breed, M. F., Krauss, S. L., Batley, J., Kendrick, G. A., Sinclair, E. A. (2022) Extensive polyploid clonality was a successful strategy for seagrass to expand into a newly submerged environment. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 289*(1976): 20220538.

Emanuelli, F., Lorenzi, S., Grzeskowiak, L., Catalano, V., Stefanini, M., Troggio, M., Myles, S., Martinez-Zapater, J., Zyprian, E., Moreira, F. M., Grando, M. S. (2013) Genetic diversity and population structure assessed by SSR and SNP markers in a large germplasm collection of grape. *BMC Plant Biology* 13: 39.

Epskamp, S., Cramer, A. O., Waldorp, L. J., Schmittmann, V. D., Borsboom, D. (2012) Qgraph: Network visualizations of relationships in psychometric data. *Journal of Statistical Software 48*: 1–18.

Evans, S. M., Sinclair, E. A., Poore, A. G. B., Steinberg, P. D., Kendrick, G. A., Vergés, A. (2014) Genetic diversity in threatened *Posidonia australis* seagrass meadows. *Conservation Genetics* 15: 717-728.

Excoffier, L., Smouse, P. E., Quattro, J. M. (1992) Analysis of molecular variance inferred from metric distances among DNA haplotypes: Application to human mitochondrial DNA restriction Data. *Genetics* 131: 479-491.

Fahrenkrog, A. M., Neves, L. G., Resende, M. F. R., Dervinis, C., Davenport, R., Barbazuk, W. B., Kirst, M. (2017) Population genomics of the eastern cottonwood (*Populus deltoides*). *Ecology and Evolution* 7(22): 9246-9440.

Fairclough, D. V., Potter, I. C., Lek, E., Bivoltsis, A. K., Babcock, R. C. (2011) The fish communities and main fish populations of the Jurien Bay Marine Park. Murdoch University. Report.

Ferrier, S., Manion, G., Elith, J., Richardson, K. (2007) Using generalized dissimilarity modelling to analyse and predict patterns of beta diversity in regional biodiversity assessment. *Diversity and Distributions* 13: 252-264.

Fitzpatrick, M. C., Mokany, K., Manion, G., Lisk, M., Ferrier, S., Nieto-Lugilde, D. (2020) *Gdm: Generalized Dissimilarity Modeling R package version* 1.5.0-9.1. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=gdm</u>

Forester, B. R., Lasky, J. R., Wagner, H. H., Urban, D. L. (2018) Comparing methods for detecting multilocus adaptation with multivariate genotype-environment associations. *Molecular Ecology 27*: 2215-2233.

Frankham, R. (2010) Challenges and opportunities of genetic approaches to biological conservation. *Biological Conservation 143*: 1919-1927.

Frichot, E., François, O. (2015) LEA: An R package for landscape and ecological association studies. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution 6*(8): 925-929.

Gaines, S. D., Gaylord, B., Gerber, L. R., Hastings, A., Kinlan, B. P. (2007) Connecting places. The ecological consequences of dispersal in the sea. *Oceanography 20*: 90.

Gales, N. J., Cheal, A. J., Pobar, G. J., Williamson, P. (1992) Breeding biology and movements of Australian sea-lions, *Neophoca cinerea*, off the west coast of Western Australia. *Wildlife Research 19*: 405-415.

Gaylard, S. (2014) Marine pollution in the Spencer Gulf. In Natural history of Spencer Gulf, Shepherd, SA, Madigan, SM, Gillanders, BM, Murray-Jones, S, Wiltshere, DJ (Eds). *Royal Society of South Australia Inc.,* Adelaide, 378-391.

Gibson, D. J., Newman, J. A. (2019) *Grasslands and climate change*. Cambridge, UK, Cambridge University Press.

Godfrey, J. S., Ridgeway, K. R. (1985) The large-scale environment of the poleward-flowing Leeuwin Current, Western Australia: longshore steric height gradients, wind stresses and geostrophic flow. *Journal of Physical Oceanography* 15: 481–495.

Gomulkiewicz, R., Holt, R. D., Barfield, M., Nuismer, S. L. (2010) Genetics, adaptation, and invasion in harsh environments. *Evolutionary Applications 3*: 97-108.

Goudet, J. (2005) HierFstat, a package for R to compute and test hierarchical *F*-statistics. *Molecular Ecology Notes* 5(1): 184-186.

Gruber, B., Unmack, P. J., Berry, O. F., Georges, A. (2018) DartR: An R package to facilitate analysis of SNP data generated from reduced representation genome sequencing. *Molecular Ecology Resources 18*(3): 691-699.

Gugger, P. F., Fitz-Gibbon, S. T., Albarrán-Lara, A., Wright, J. W., Sork, V. L. (2021) Landscape genomics of *Quercus lobata* reveals genes involved in local climate adaptation at multiple spatial scales. *Molecular Ecology* 30(2): 406-423.

Hansen, C. C., Nelson, D.R., Møller, B. L., Werck-Reichhart, D. (2021) Plant cytochrome P450 plasticity and evolution. *Molecular Plant 14*: 1244–1265.

Hastings, K., Ryan, K. L. (2017) Differences in perception of a newly created Marine Park in south-west Western Australia by boat-based recreational fishers and the broader community. *Marine Policy* 77: 65-77.

Hernawan, U. E., van Dijk, K., Kendrick, G. A., Feng, M., Berry, O., Kavazos, C., McMahon, K. M. (2023) Ocean connectivity and habitat characteristics predict population genetic structure of seagrass in an extreme tropical setting. *Ecology and Evolution* 13(7): e10257.

Hocking, P. J., Cambridge, M. L., McComb, A. J. (1980) Nutrient accumulation in the fruits of two species of seagrass, *Posidonia australis* and *Posidonia sinuosa*. *Annals of Botany* 45: 149-161.

Hoffmann, A., Griffin, P., Dillon, S., Catullo, R., Rane, R., Byrne, M., Jordan, R., Oakeshott, J., Weeks, A., Joseph, L., Lockhart, P., Borevitz, J., Sgrò, C. (2015) A framework for incorporating evolutionary genomics into biodiversity conservation and management. *Climate Change Responses 2*: 1-24.

Hoffmann, A. A., Weeks, A. R., Sgrò, C. M. (2021) Opportunities and challenges in assessing climate change vulnerability through genomics. *CELL* 184:1420-1425.

Hopley, T., Byrne, M. (2022) Implications of climate change on a floodplain shrub: Associations between genomic and environmental variation. *Global Ecology and Conservation 40*: e02340.

Hyndes, G. A., Heck, K. L., Verges, A., Harvey, E. S., Kendrick, G. A., Lavery, P. S., McMahon, K., Orth, R. J., Pearce, A., Vanderklift, M. A., Wernberg, T., Whiting, S., Wilson, S. (2016). Accelerating tropicalisation and the transformation of temperate seagrass meadows. *BioScience* 66: 938–948.

IPCC (2018) Global warming of 1.5°C, an IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty.

IUCN (2010) IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. *International Union for the Conservation of Nature* (*IUCN*). www.iucnredlist.org/species/173349/6996688. Accessed February 2nd, 2024.

Jakobsson, M., Rosenberg, N. A. (2007) CLUMPP: A cluster matching and permutation program for dealing with label switching and multimodality in analysis of population structure. *Bioinformatics* 23(14): 1801-1806.

James, N. P., Bone, Y. (2011) Neritic carbonate sediments in a temperate realm: southern Australia. Springer, Dordrecht.

Janes, J. K., Miller, J. M., Dupuis, J. R., Malenfant, R. M., Gorrell, J. C., Cullingham, C. I., Andrew, R. L. (2017) The *K* = 2 conundrum. *Molecular Ecology 26:* 3594-3602. Jombart, T. (2008) adegenet: A R package for the multivariate analysis of genetic markers. *Bioinformatics 24*(11): 1403-1405.

Jombart, T., Ahmed, I. (2011) adegenet 1.3.1: New tools for the analysis of genome-wide SNP data. *Bioinformatics 27*(21): 3070-3071.

Jombart, T., Devillard, S., Balloux, F. (2010) Discriminant analysis of principal components: A new method for the analysis of genetically structured populations. *BMC Genetics* 11(1): 94.

Jordà, G., Marbà, N., Duarte, C. M. (2012) Mediterranean seagrass vulnerable to regional climate change. *Nature Climate Change 2*: 821-824.

Jordan, R., Hoffmann, A. A., Dillon, S. K., Prober, S. M. (2017) Evidence of genomic adaptation to climate in *Eucalyptus macrocarpa*: Implications for adaptive potential to projected climate change. *Molecular Ecology 26*(21): 6002-6020.

Kamvar, Z. N., Brooks, J. C., Grünwald, N. J. (2015) Novel R tools for genetic analysis of genome-wide population genetic data with emphasis on clonality. *Frontiers in Genetics 6*: 2008.

Kamvar, Z. N., Tabima, J. F., Grünwald, N. J. (2014) Poppr: An R package for genetic analysis of populations with clonal, partially clonal, and/or sexual reproduction. *PeerJ* 2: e281.

Kendrick, G. A., Aylward, M.J., Hegge, B. J., Cambridge, M. L., Hillman, K., Wyllie, A., Lord, D. A. (2002) Changes in seagrass coverage in Cockburn Sound, Western Australia between 1967 and 1999. *Aquatic Botany 73*: 75-87.

Kendrick, G. A., Waycott, M., Carruthers, T. J. B., Cambridge, M. L., Hovey, R. K., Krauss, S. L., Lavery, P. S., Les, D. H., Lowe, R. J., Mascaró, O., Ooi Lean Sim, J., Orth, R. J., Rivers, D., Ruiz-Montoya, L., Sinclair, E. A., Statton, J., van Dijk, K-J., Verduin, J. J. (2012). The central role of dispersal in the maintenance and persistence of seagrass populations. *BioScience* 62: 56-65.

Kendrick, G. A., Orth, R. J., Statton, J., Hovey, R. K., Ruiz Montoya, L., Lowe, R. J., Krauss, S. L., Sinclair, E. A. (2017) Demographic and genetic connectivity: the role and consequences of reproduction, dispersal and recruitment in seagrasses. *Biological Reviews* 92: 921–938.

Kennington WJ, Cadee SA, Berry O, Groth DM, Johnson MS, Melville-Smith R. (2013). Maintenance of genetic variation and panmixia in the commercially exploited western rock lobster (*Panulirus cygnus*). *Conservation Genetics* 14: 115-124.

Last, P. R., Lyne, V. D., Williams, A., Davies, C. R., Butler, A. J., Yearsley, G. K. (2010) A hierarchical framework for classifying seabed biodiversity with application to planning and managing Australia's marine biological resources. *Biological Conservation* 143: 1 675-1686.

Lauritano, C., Ruocco, M., Dattolo, E., Buia, M. C., Silva, J., Santos, R., Olivé, I., Costa, M. M., Procaccini, G. (2015) Response of key stress-related genes of the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* in the vicinity of submarine volcanic vents. *Biogeosciences* 12: 4185–4194.

Marshall, I. R., Brauer, C. J., Wedderburn, S. D., Whiterod, N. S., Hammer, M. P., Barnes, T. C., Attard, C. R. M., Möller, L. M., Beheregaray, L. B. (2022) Longitudinal monitoring of neutral and adaptive genomic diversity in a reintroduction. *Conservation Biology 36*(4): e13889.

Masini, R. J., Manning, C. R. (1997) The photosynthetic responses to irradiance and temperature of four meadow-forming seagrasses. *Aquatic Botany 58*: 21-36.

McComb, A. J., Cambridge, M. L., Kirkman, H., Kuo, J. (1981) The biology of Australian seagrasses. In: Pate, J. S., McComb, A. J., editors. The Biology of Australian Plants. Nedlands: University of Western Australia Press. p. 258-293.

McMahon, K., Young, E., Montgomery, S., Cosgrove, J., Wilshaw, J., Walker, D. I. (2007) Status of a shallow seagrass system, Geographe Bay, south-western Australia. *Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia 80*: 255-262.

McMahon, K. M., van Dijk, K-J., Ruiz-Montoya, L., Kendrick, G. A., Krauss, S. L., Waycott, M., Verduin, J. J., Lowe, R., Statton, J., Brown, E., Duarte, C. M. (2014) The movement ecology of seagrasses. *Proceedings of the Royal Society London B* 281: 20140878.

McMahon, K.M, Sinclair, E. A., Sherman, C. D. H., van Dijk, J. K., Hernawan, U., Verduin, J., Waycott. M. (2018). Genetic connectivity in tropical and temperate Australian seagrass species. In: Larkum AWD, Ralph P, Kendrick GA, editors. Seagrasses of Australia: Structure, ecology and conservation: Springer Publishing. p. 155-194.

Meirmans, P. G., and Van Tienderen P. H. (2004) GENOTYPE and GENODIVE: Two programs for the analysis of genetic diversity of asexual organisms. *Molecular Ecology Notes 4:* 792-794.

Mehryar, S. (2022) What is the difference between climate change adaptation and resilience? *The London School of Economics and Political Science*. <u>www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/explainers/what-is-the-difference-between-climate-change-adaptation-and-resilience/</u>. Accessed February 20th, 2024.

Monmonier, M. S. (1973) Maximum-difference barriers: An alternative numerical regionalization method. *Geographical Analysis*, *5*(*3*): 245–261.

Nei, M. (1987) Molecular Evolutionary Genetics. Columbia University Press, New York.

Nguyen HM, Ruocco M, Dattolo E, Cassetti FP, Calvo S, Tomasello A, Marín-Guirao L, Pernice M, Procaccini G. (2023) Signs of local adaptation by genetic selection and isolation promoted by extreme temperature and salinity in the Mediterranean seagrass *Posidonia oceanica*. Molecular Ecology 32: 4313 - 4328.

Nimbs MJ, Davis TR, Glasby TG, Sinclair EA, Swadling D, Coleman MA. (2024) A donor registry: genomic analyses of *Posidonia australis* seagrass meadows optimises source material for future-proofing. *Ecology and Evolution* 12: e70667.

Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P. R., O'Hara, R. B., Simpon, G. A., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., Szoecs, E., Wagner, H. (2020) *Vegan: Community* ecology package. *R* package version 2.6-4. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan</u>

Orth, R. J. (1999) Settlings rates of *Posidonia coriacea* seeds and *Posidonia* spp. Seedling abundance off Rottnest Island, Perth, Western Australia. Pp. 51-61 In Walker, D. I. and Wells, F. E. (eds). The seagrass flora and fauna of Rottnest Island, Western Australia. Western Australian Museum.

Paradis, E., Schliep, K. (2019) ape 5.0: An environment for modern phylogenetics and evolutionary analyses in R. *Bioinformatics 25*(3): 526-528.

Paradis, E. (2010) pegas: An R package for population genetics with an integrated-modular approach. *Bioinformatics 26*(3): 419-420.

Paradis, E. and K. Schliep (2019) ape 5.0: an environment for modern phylogenetics and evolutionary analyses in R. *Bioinformatics* 35: 526-528.

Paulo, D., Diekmann, O., Ramos, A. A., Alberto, F., Serrão, E. A. (2019) Sexual reproduction vs clonal propagation in the recovery of a seagrass meadow after an extreme weather event. *Scientia Marina 83*: 357-363.

Pearce, A., Pattiaratchi, C. (1999) The Capes Current: a summer countercurrent flowing past Cape Leeuwin and Cape Naturaliste, Western Australia. *Continental Shelf Research* 19: 401-420.

Peterson, B. K., Weber, J. N., Kay, E. H., Fisher, H. S., Hoekstra, H. E. (2012) Double Digest RADseq: An inexpensive method for *de Novo* SNP discovery and genotyping in model and non-model species. *PLOS ONE* 7: e37135.

Phair, N. L., Toonen, R. J., Knapp, I., von der Heyden, S. (2019) Shared genomic outliers across two divergent population clusters of a highly threatened seagrass. PeerJ 7: e6806.

Prober, S. M., Byrne, M., McLean, E. H., Steane, D. A., Potts, B. M., Vaillancourt, R. E., Stock, W. D. (2015) Climate-adjusted provenancing: a strategy for climate resilient ecological restoration. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 3*: 65.

Procaccini, G., Ruocco, M., Marín-Guirao, L., Dattolo, E., Brunet, C., D'Esposito, D., Lauritano, C., Mazzuca, S., Serra, I. A., Bernardo, L., Piro, A., Beer, S., Björk, M., Gullenström, M., Buapet, P., Rasmusson, L. M., Felisberto, P., Gobert, S., Runcie, J. W., Silva, J., Olivé, I., Costa, M. M., Barrote, I., Santos, R. (2017) Depth-specific fluctuations of gene expression and protein abundance modulate the photophysiology in the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica*. *Scientific Reports 7*: 42890.

R Core Team. (2019) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. <u>http://www.R-project.org/</u>

Rasmusson, L. M., Buapet, P., George, R., Gullström, M., Gunnarsson, P. C. B., Björk, M. (2020) Effects of temperature and hypoxia on respiration, photorespiration, and photosynthesis of seagrass leaves from contrasting temperature regimes. *ICES Journal of Marine Science 77:* 2056–2065.

Rellstab, C., Dauphin, B., Exposito-Alonso, M. (2021) Prospects and limitations of genomic offset in conservation management. *Evolutionary Applications* 14: 1202-1212.

Rellstab, C., Gugerli, F., Eckert, A. J., Hancock, A. M., Holderegger, R. (2015) A practical guide to environmental association analysis in landscape genomics. *Molecular Ecology* 24: 4348-4370.

Rosenberg, N. A. (2004) distruct: A program for the graphical display of population structure. *Molecular Ecology Notes* 4(1): 137-138.

Ruiz-Montoya, L., Lowe, R. J., Kendrick, G. A. (2015) Contemporary connectivity is sustained by windand current-driven seed dispersal among seagrass meadows. *Movement Ecology* 3: 9.

Ruiz-Montoya, L., Lowe, R. J., Van Niel, K. P., Kendrick, G. A. (2012) The role of hydrodynamics on seed dispersal in seagrasses. *Limnology and Oceanography* 57: 1257-1265.

Said, N. E., Webster, C., Dunham, N., Strydom, S., McMahon, K. M. (2024) Seagrass thermal tolerance varies between species and within species across locations. Theme 2.2: Pressure-response relationships, building resilience and future proofing seagrass meadows. West Australian Marine Science Institution. 26pp.

Sang, Y., Long, Z., Dan, X., Feng, J., Shi, T., Jia, C., Zhang, X., Lai, Q., Yang, G., Zhang, H., Xu, X., Liu, H., Jiang, Y., Ingvarsson, P. K., Liu, J., Mao, K., Wang, J. (2022) Genomic insights into local adaptation and future climate-induced vulnerability of a keystone forest tree in East Asia. *Nature Communications* 13: 6541.

Savolainen, O., Pyhäjärvi, T. (2007) Genomic diversity in forest trees. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology 10*: 162-167.

Savolainen, O., Pyhäjärvi, T., Knurr, T. (2007) Gene flow and local adaptation in trees. *Annual Review* of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 38: 595-619.

Scanlon, M. S., Harvey, E. S., Parker, J. R. C., Mullins, I. M., Teede, S. A., Saunders, B. J. (2024) Changes in the fish assemblages along the Busselton Jetty, and a comparison with natural habitats. *Marine and Freshwater Research 75:* MF24011.

Short, F. T., Polidoro, B., Livingstone, S. R., Carpenter, K. E., Bandeira, S., Bujang, J. S., Calumpong, H. P., Carruthers, T. J. B., Coles, R. G., Dennison, W. C., Erftmeijer, P. L. A., Fortes, M. D., Freeman, A. S., Jagtap, T. G., Kamal, A. H. M., Kendrick, G. A., Kenworthy, W. J., La Nafie, Y. A., Nasution, I. M., Orth, R. J., Zieman, J. C. (2011) Extinction risk assessment of the world's seagrass species. *Biological Conservation* 144: 1961-1971.

Sinclair, E. A., Hovey, R. K., Krauss, S. L., Anthony, J. M., Waycott, M., Kendrick, G. A. (2023) Historic and contemporary biogeographic perspectives on range-wide spatial genetic structure in a widespread seagrass. *Ecology and Evolution* 13(3): e9900.

Sinclair, E. A., Krauss, S. L., Anthony, J., Hovey, R., Kendrick, G. A. (2014) The interaction of environment and genetic diversity within meadows of the seagrass *Posidonia australis* (Posidonaceae). *Marine Ecology Progress Series 506*: 87-98.

Sinclair, E. A., Ruiz-Montoya, L., Krauss, S. L., Anthony, J. M., Hovey, R. K., Lowe, R. J., Kendrick, G. A. (2018) Seeds in motion: genetic assignment and hydrodynamic models demonstrate concordant patterns of seagrass dispersal. *Molecular Ecology 27*: 5019-5034.

Sinclair, E. A., Edgeloe, J. M., Anthony, J. M., Statton, J., Breed, M. F., Kendrick, G. A. (2020) Variation in reproductive effort, genetic diversity and mating systems across *Posidonia australis* seagrass meadows in Western Australia. *AoB PLANTS* 12: plaa038.

Sinclair, E. A., Sherman, C. D. H., Statton, J., Copeland, C., Matthews, A., Waycott, M., van Dijk, K-J., Vergés, A., Kajlich, L., McLeod, I. M., Kendrick, G. A. (2021) Advances in approaches to seagrass restoration in Australia. *Ecological Management and Restoration 22*: 10-21.

Skirving, W., Marsh, B., De La Cour, J., Liu, G., Harris, A., Maturi, E., Geiger, E., Eaking, C. M. (2020) CoralTemp and the Coral Reef Watch Coral Bleaching Heat Stress Product Suite Version 3.1. *Remote Sensing 12*: 3856.

Smith, N. M., Walker, D. I. (2002) Canopy structure and pollination biology of the seagrasses *Posidonia australis* and *P. sinuosa* (Posidoneaceae). *Aquatic Botany* 74: 57-70.

Sotka, E.E., Hughes, A.R., Hanley, T.C. and Hays, C.G. (2024) Restricted dispersal and phenotypic response to water depth in a foundation seagrass. *Molecular Ecology* 33: e17565.

Statton, J., Montoya, L. R., Orth, R. J., Dixon, K. W., Kendrick, G. A. (2017) Identifying critical recruitment bottlenecks limiting seedling establishment in a degraded seagrass ecosystem. *Scientific Reports* 7: 14786.

Steedman, R. K., Craig, P. D. (1983) Wind-driven circulation of Cockburn Sound. *Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Resources* 34: 187-212.

Strydom, S., Murray, K., Wilson, S., Huntley, B., Rule, M., Heithaus, Bessey, C., Kendrick, G. A., Burkholder, D., Fraser, M. W., Zdunic, K. (2020) Too hot to handle: Unprecedented seagrass death driven by marine heatwave in a World Heritage Area. *Global Change Biology 26*: 3525-3538.

Sundqvist, L., Keenan, K., Zackrisson, M., Prodöhl, P., Kleinhans, D. (2016) Directional genetic differentiation and relative migration. *Ecology and Evolution* 6: 3461-3475.

Tigano, A., Friesen, V. L. (2016) Genomics of local adaptation with gene flow. *Molecular Ecology 25*: 2144-2164.

Wang, Z., Pu, J., Richards, C., Giannetti, E., Cong, H., Lin, Z., Chung, H. (2023) Evolution of fatty acyl-CoA elongase underlies desert adaptation in *Drosophila*. *Science Advances 9*: eadg0328.

Waters, E. R. Vierling, E. (2020 Plant small heat shock proteins – evolutionary and functional diversity. *New Phytologist 227:* 24 – 37.

Webster, C., McMahon, K., Ross, C., Afrifa-Yamoah, E., Said, N., Hovey, R., Martin, B., Strydom, S. (2024) Two decades of seagrass monitoring data show drivers include ENSO, climate warming and local stressors. Theme 2.2: Pressure-response relationships, building resilience and future proofing seagrass meadows. West Australian Marine Science Institution.

Weir, B. S., Cockerham, C. C. (1984) Estimating *F*-Statistics for the analysis of population structure. *Evolution 38*(6): 1358-1370.

Wernberg, T., Coleman, M. A., Bennett, S., Thomsen, M. S., Tuya, F., Kelaher, B. P. (2018) Genetic diversity and kelp forest vulnerability to climatic stress. *Scientific Reports 8*: 1851.

Wernberg, T., Smale, D. A., Tuya, F., Thomsen, M. S., Langlois, T. J., de Bettignies, T., Bennett, S., Rousseaux, C. S. (2013) An extreme climatic event alters marine ecosystem structure in a global biodiversity hotspot. *Nature Climate Change* 3: 78-82.

Whale, J. W., Ahrens, C. W., Tissue, D. T., Rymer, P. D. (2024a) Closely related tree species with overlapping ranges exhibit divergent adaptation to climate. *Molecular Ecology* : *in review preprint:* <u>https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2021.11.08.467758v1</u>

Whale, J. W., Dunham, N., Bywater, A., Field, D. L., Sinclair, E. A., Strydom, S., McMahon, K. M. (2024b) Thermal priming of dehisced *Posidonia* seed does not increase thermal tolerance of establishing seedlings. Theme 2.2: Pressure-response relationships, building resilience and future proofing seagrass meadows. West Australian Marine Science Institution. Zhang, W. M., Cheng, X. Z., Fang, D., Cao, J. (2022) AT-hook motif nuclear localized (AHL) proteins of ancient origin radiate new functions. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 214: 290-300.

10 Appendices

Table S1. Genetic and geographic distance. Pairwise genetic (F_{ST} , lower triangular matrix) and geographic over-water distance (km, upper triangular matrix) among sampled *P. sinuosa* populations (population codes described in Table 1). All pairwise F_{ST} values were significantly greater than zero (p < 0.05). Shading indicates lower (light blue) to higher (dark blue) differentation.

Site	BSFD	POMO	FISH	BOUL	JUIS	KAPO	BURO	MULL	NOBE	S4S2W	CAIS	WOOD	GNDP	GRDN	JERV	KWIN	GDNS	SOFL	CSWY	MANG	POPE	WNBR	WBDP	BEPO	ODUN	VAWO	DUBO	MBRD
BSFD		4	166	185	190	218	361	366	371	397	400	401	403	403	410	408	409	413	415	419	419	421	425	428	552	560	553	558
POMO	0.022		163	182	186	215	357	363	367	394	396	397	400	400	406	405	405	409	411	415	415	417	421	424	548	557	549	554
FISH	0.105	0.107		19	24	52	195	201	205	232	234	235	238	238	244	243	243	247	249	253	253	255	259	262	386	395	388	393
BOUL	0.095	0.108	0.047		5	33	175	181	186	212	214	216	218	218	225	223	224	228	230	234	233	236	240	243	367	376	368	373
JUIS	0.093	0.105	0.042	0.052		33	175	181	186	212	214	215	218	218	224	223	224	228	230	233	233	235	239	242	367	375	368	373
KAPO	0.076	0.103	0.065	0.045	0.065		143	148	153	179	182	183	185	185	192	190	191	195	197	201	201	203	207	210	334	343	335	340
BURO	0.077	0.093	0.099	0.088	0.088	0.067		10	16	43	47	47	51	51	56	54	56	59	61	65	65	67	71	75	219	218	222	220
MULL	0.076	0.093	0.086	0.076	0.084	0.066	0.054		11	38	42	42	45	45	50	49	51	54	56	59	60	62	66	69	214	213	216	215
NOBE	0.083	0.095	0.087	0.081	0.075	0.077	0.045	0.029		28	33	32	36	36	41	39	42	45	47	51	51	53	57	60	205	204	208	206
S4S2W	0.071	0.091	0.073	0.076	0.066	0.079	0.053	0.047	0.040		7	4	10	10	13	11	14	17	19	23	23	26	30	33	177	176	180	179
CAIS	0.092	0.105	0.102	0.078	0.089	0.086	0.067	0.049	0.046	0.052		6	4	4	13	10	10	14	15	19	19	22	26	29	172	171	175	174
WOOD	0.051	0.085	0.073	0.084	0.073	0.065	0.057	0.035	0.049	0.031	0.041		7	7	9	7	10	14	15	19	19	22	26	29	174	172	176	175
GNDP	0.081	0.086	0.074	0.067	0.067	0.051	0.041	0.035	0.025	0.014	0.045	0.025		0	12	7	6	10	12	15	16	18	22	25	169	167	171	170
GRDN	0.094	0.107	0.073	0.067	0.066	0.072	0.073	0.058	0.066	0.047	0.064	0.058	0.033		12	7	6	10	12	15	16	18	22	25	169	167	171	170
JERV	0.102	0.111	0.096	0.096	0.096	0.098	0.067	0.066	0.063	0.048	0.067	0.052	0.042	0.077		6	10	12	14	17	18	20	24	27	172	171	174	173
KWIN	0.079	0.093	0.073	0.074	0.066	0.086	0.058	0.056	0.048	0.017	0.057	0.026	0.024	0.050	0.056		5	6	8	12	13	14	18	22	166	165	169	167
GDNS	0.131	0.130	0.113	0.125	0.106	0.111	0.122	0.108	0.121	0.084	0.118	0.077	0.095	0.075	0.110	0.082		4	6	10	10	12	16	19	163	162	166	165
SOFL	0.075	0.097	0.078	0.084	0.084	0.064	0.068	0.042	0.051	0.053	0.049	0.033	0.032	0.049	0.063	0.051	0.099		2	6	6	8	12	15	160	159	163	161
CSWY	0.081	0.086	0.081	0.079	0.079	0.082	0.060	0.040	0.040	0.046	0.029	0.031	0.028	0.043	0.058	0.037	0.082	0.012	0.040	4	5	6	10	14	158	157	161	159
MANG	0.083	0.110	0.088	0.070	0.077	0.073	0.066	0.064	0.059	0.049	0.063	0.049	0.023	0.052	0.060	0.052	0.105	0.044	0.042	0.404	9	1	11	14	159	158	162	160
POPE	0.162	0.176	0.152	0.140	0.144	0.142	0.124	0.107	0.124	0.095	0.115	0.105	0.108	0.119	0.115	0.115	0.155	0.135	0.104	0.131	0.404	6	10	13	158	157	160	159
WNBR	0.066	0.096	0.078	0.070	0.069	0.082	0.048	0.048	0.042	0.041	0.042	0.040	0.025	0.046	0.050	0.040	0.094	0.035	0.027	0.033	0.104	0.000	4	1	153	151	155	154
WBDP	0.074	0.099	0.089	0.084	0.090	0.076	0.057	0.049	0.046	0.034	0.055	0.039	0.019	0.058	0.047	0.049	0.103	0.050	0.038	0.044	0.104	0.030	0.022	4	149	148	152	150
ODUN	0.055	0.097	0.097	0.087	0.001	0.087	0.000	0.048	0.045	0.051	0.052	0.037	0.045	0.058	0.005	0.001	0.104	0.051	0.029	0.063	0.110	0.022	0.032	0.090	145	144	140	146
VAWO	0.072	0.090	0.095	0.099	0.099	0.076	0.074	0.004	0.002	0.000	0.079	0.004	0.037	0.094	0.007	0.000	0.113	0.073	0.076	0.000	0.157	0.001	0.059	0.000	0.050	21	4	13
DUBO	0.093	0.130	0.115	0.125	0.064	0.115	0.114	0.060	0.100	0.060	0.114	0.078	0.061	0.103	0.111	0.091	0.130	0.104	0.097	0.100	0.109	0.000	0.094	0.099	0.059	0.044	29	14
MBPD	0.08/	0.107	0.009	0.077	0.004	0.080	0.071	0.000	0.009	0.000	0.004	0.041	0.051	0.002	0.082	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.040	0.000	0.141	0.030	0.057	0.002	0.039	0.044	0.034	10
WIBRD	0.004	0.099	0.090	0.101	0.100	0.000	0.095	0.002	0.000	0.075	0.093	0.071	0.000	0.090	0.000	0.074	0.125	0.000	0.065	0.009	0.155	0.076	0.071	0.003	0.030	0.000	0.034	

Table S2. **Directional migration.** Directional migration among *P. sinuosa* populations following the *divMigrate* analysis using genetic distance (G_{ST}). Population codes described in Table 1. Populations are orientated in a north to south direction, with the direction of migration from source (left column) and receiving populations (top row). Cell colour indicates the strength of the migration: light blue = 0.50 - 0.59, mid blue = 0.60 - 0.69, royal blue = 0.70 - 0.79, dark blue > 0.80. All migration values were significant after 1000 bootstraps (p < 0.05).

Site	BSFD	РОМО	FISH	BOUL	JUIS	КАРО	BURO	MULL	NOBE	S4S2W	CAIS	WOOD	GNDP	GRDN	JERV	KWIN	GDNS	SOFL	CSWY	MANG	POPE	WNBR	WBDP	BEPO	ODUN	VAWO	DUBO	MBRD
BSFD		0.44	0.34	0.44	0.49	0.38	0.37	0.54	0.54	0.54	0.47	0.33	0.34	0.45	0.42	0.37	0.29	0.25	0.41	0.25	0.33	0.47	0.41	0.63	0.39	0.26	0.28	0.35
РОМО	0.28		0.36	0.46	0.56	0.40	0.36	0.55	0.57	0.54	0.44	0.30	0.34	0.47	0.42	0.37	0.31	0.25	0.42	0.24	0.32	0.43	0.42	0.54	0.42	0.25	0.28	0.34
FISH	0.21	0.30		0.64	0.89	0.44	0.36	0.59	0.55	0.66	0.47	0.39	0.37	0.56	0.45	0.40	0.34	0.28	0.43	0.27	0.38	0.45	0.41	0.53	0.39	0.27	0.34	0.35
BOUL	0.22	0.30	0.51		0.82	0.46	0.38	0.62	0.60	0.70	0.53	0.34	0.36	0.60	0.46	0.43	0.33	0.26	0.42	0.29	0.42	0.51	0.40	0.56	0.40	0.26	0.32	0.35
JUIS	0.22	0.32	0.53	0.64		0.43	0.41	0.65	0.69	0.80	0.57	0.34	0.40	0.66	0.50	0.47	0.33	0.26	0.47	0.27	0.42	0.52	0.46	0.65	0.43	0.27	0.35	0.34
KAPO	0.24	0.35	0.46	0.65	0.73		0.44	0.67	0.70	0.69	0.59	0.37	0.42	0.59	0.54	0.43	0.34	0.29	0.52	0.29	0.40	0.53	0.51	0.66	0.46	0.27	0.32	0.37
BURO	0.25	0.33	0.41	0.57	0.61	0.48		0.74	0.85	0.78	0.58	0.39	0.43	0.59	0.60	0.46	0.38	0.30	0.53	0.29	0.43	0.59	0.55	0.68	0.49	0.30	0.33	0.38
MULL	0.22	0.31	0.40	0.54	0.62	0.40	0.43		0.92	0.85	0.69	0.39	0.43	0.64	0.60	0.49	0.32	0.31	0.56	0.30	0.48	0.57	0.53	0.78	0.50	0.28	0.34	0.35
NOBE	0.22	0.30	0.39	0.54	0.64	0.44	0.48	0.91		0.87	0.68	0.36	0.46	0.61	0.59	0.51	0.30	0.28	0.57	0.29	0.44	0.60	0.53	0.79	0.50	0.28	0.32	0.34
S4S2W	0.23	0.32	0.42	0.50	0.70	0.37	0.42	0.75	0.88		0.67	0.39	0.50	0.66	0.67	0.61	0.35	0.27	0.51	0.29	0.53	0.59	0.54	0.74	0.55	0.28	0.32	0.37
CAIS	0.24	0.33	0.38	0.56	0.62	0.44	0.45	0.86	0.88	0.86		0.40	0.46	0.68	0.63	0.51	0.32	0.32	0.68	0.32	0.53	0.65	0.53	0.82	0.47	0.29	0.32	0.36
WOOD	0.24	0.31	0.44	0.51	0.62	0.40	0.45	0.78	0.67	0.86	0.70		0.44	0.59	0.62	0.53	0.39	0.31	0.63	0.31	0.46	0.65	0.55	0.77	0.47	0.30	0.35	0.39
GNDP	0.23	0.33	0.43	0.51	0.65	0.44	0.45	0.76	0.82	0.93	0.67	0.40		0.64	0.62	0.54	0.33	0.29	0.58	0.32	0.45	0.67	0.59	0.74	0.55	0.28	0.34	0.40
GRDN	0.20	0.28	0.43	0.50	0.68	0.38	0.36	0.68	0.61	0.81	0.54	0.32	0.40		0.48	0.45	0.35	0.27	0.49	0.29	0.45	0.52	0.44	0.65	0.38	0.26	0.31	0.31
JERV	0.22	0.30	0.39	0.53	0.63	0.40	0.44	0.73	0.74	0.86	0.63	0.37	0.44	0.62		0.51	0.33	0.28	0.55	0.30	0.50	0.59	0.57	0.74	0.47	0.27	0.31	0.37
KWIN	0.22	0.30	0.40	0.48	0.61	0.36	0.40	0.67	0.73	0.90	0.57	0.37	0.43	0.60	0.57		0.34	0.27	0.53	0.28	0.45	0.54	0.46	0.68	0.45	0.27	0.31	0.35
GDNS	0.19	0.26	0.39	0.44	0.57	0.39	0.33	0.55	0.44	0.66	0.42	0.35	0.32	0.56	0.45	0.37		0.27	0.42	0.26	0.39	0.42	0.39	0.51	0.36	0.25	0.30	0.31
SOFL	0.22	0.31	0.45	0.45	0.60	0.44	0.42	0.74	0.59	0.68	0.62	0.41	0.40	0.59	0.57	0.42	0.39		0.67	0.32	0.36	0.56	0.55	0.65	0.40	0.27	0.34	0.35
CSWY	0.23	0.33	0.41	0.52	0.63	0.43	0.46	0.85	0.81	0.83	0.83	0.42	0.44	0.66	0.63	0.52	0.34	0.36		0.33	0.48	0.71	0.55	0.85	0.46	0.28	0.34	0.35
MANG	0.24	0.29	0.38	0.49	0.55	0.39	0.40	0.68	0.64	0.68	0.64	0.39	0.43	0.56	0.56	0.43	0.32	0.30	0.55		0.41	0.64	0.50	0.64	0.46	0.26	0.32	0.35
POPE	0.18	0.25	0.33	0.41	0.45	0.30	0.33	0.62	0.54	0.66	0.50	0.33	0.34	0.44	0.48	0.40	0.29	0.23	0.42	0.25		0.47	0.40	0.61	0.38	0.23	0.26	0.27
WNBR	0.25	0.32	0.43	0.59	0.69	0.45	0.46	0.77	0.87	0.91	0.73	0.41	0.53	0.68	0.63	0.52	0.33	0.31	0.67	0.34	0.48		0.61	1.00	0.50	0.29	0.38	0.37
WBDP	0.24	0.34	0.41	0.53	0.66	0.46	0.49	0.79	0.90	0.90	0.66	0.42	0.53	0.68	0.67	0.54	0.37	0.33	0.60	0.32	0.49	0.71		0.96	0.56	0.28	0.36	0.40
BEPO	0.24	0.31	0.36	0.50	0.58	0.40	0.40	0.76	0.80	0.81	0.62	0.39	0.41	0.62	0.56	0.48	0.33	0.29	0.59	0.28	0.46	0.64	0.56		0.45	0.27	0.31	0.34
ODUN	0.21	0.30	0.36	0.43	0.51	0.38	0.38	0.58	0.65	0.64	0.50	0.32	0.40	0.45	0.47	0.41	0.28	0.25	0.42	0.25	0.37	0.49	0.46	0.57		0.30	0.34	0.41
VAWO	0.20	0.27	0.33	0.39	0.45	0.35	0.37	0.52	0.51	0.55	0.42	0.34	0.33	0.40	0.44	0.36	0.29	0.25	0.40	0.23	0.33	0.45	0.40	0.51	0.45		0.35	0.40
DUBO	0.20	0.28	0.39	0.44	0.56	0.34	0.35	0.55	0.54	0.56	0.47	0.33	0.37	0.46	0.42	0.37	0.30	0.26	0.44	0.25	0.35	0.52	0.41	0.55	0.48	0.30		0.39
MBRD	0.22	0.30	0.35	0.43	0.52	0.39	0.37	0.54	0.56	0.56	0.49	0.32	0.36	0.44	0.45	0.37	0.30	0.25	0.43	0.26	0.33	0.47	0.43	0.55	0.55	0.31	0.36	



Figure S1. Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC). Values for the BIC for K = 1 to 28 clusters. We have inferred an optimal value of K = 4 populations based on the 'best' BIC score, as indicated by an elbow in the curve of BIC values.



Figure S2. Monmonier's barrier. A genetic barrier to gene flow was identified within Cockburn Sound.

Submitted as draft	27/3/2024
Review completed	16/5/2024
Submitted as revised draft	23/2/2025
Approved by Science Program Leadership Team	27/2/2025
Approved by WAMSI CEO	19/03/2025
Final report	



WESTERN AUSTRALIAN MARINE SCIENCE INSTITUTION